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The undisputed beer.

The original beer from the Danish Master

Brewer is the most popular beer in Malaysia.

Carlsberg Green Label is enjoyed for its

refreshing and consistently excellent taste.

Drinkers who have acquired the taste of

Carlsberg Green Label recognize that there is

no substitute for this premium quality beer

which is a requisite in social functions and

celebrations.

CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Pale yellow

• Alcohol Content

5.0%

• Pack Size

Can 320ml
Pint bottle 325ml
Quart bottle 660ml
Draught 22.7 litres
Draught 30 litres
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Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft,

D.P.T.J. (Kehormat)

Non-Executive Chairman
Member of Audit Committee
Member of Nomination Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Member of ESOS Committee

Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft, aged 61, a
Dane, was appointed to the Board
on 30 October 1995. On
18 November 2002, Dato' was
appointed as Executive Chairman of
CBMB and on 28 January 2003, he
was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd. On
1 April 2003, Dato’ stepped down
as Executive Chairman of CBMB but
remains as a Non-Executive
Chairman.

Dato' Bornhoft holds a degree in
Accountancy and Finance from the
Copenhagen Business School. Prior
to his appointment to Carlsberg
Malaysia, Dato' was Vice-President in
Carlsberg International A/S,
responsible for licence agreements
in Asia, foreign subsidiaries and new
projects. Dato' Bornhoft was also
previously a General Manager of a
brewery in Greece.

Currently, Dato' Bornhoft holds
directorships in ABN Amro Bank
Berhad, South East Asia Brewery Ltd
(Vietnam), The Ceylon Brewery Ltd
(Sri Lanka), The Lion Brewery Ceylon
Ltd (Sri Lanka), Hite Brewery Co. Ltd
(Korea), Tsingtao Brewery Shanghai
Songjiang Co. Ltd (China) and Lao
Brewery Co. Ltd (Laos). Dato' is a past
President of the Malaysian
International Chamber of Commerce
and Industry and now a Committee
Member of the same. He is also a
Board Member of the Malaysian
Danish Business Council and
Yayasan Kecemerlangan Sukan
Malaysia.

Chan Hua Eng, R  OBE

Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of Audit Committee
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Member of Nomination Committee
Member of ESOS Committee

Mr Chan Hua Eng, aged 74, a
Malaysian, was appointed to the
Board on 6 December 1971.

Mr Chan is a law graduate with
Honours from the University of
Bristol, a Barrister-at-Law of Middle
Temple and an Associate Member of
the Malaysian Institute of Taxation.
He was previously a Senior Partner
at Shearn Delamore & Co., Chairman
of the Malaysian Bar Council,
part-time Judicial Commissioner
and Chairman of the Sabah Inquiry
Commission.

Mr Chan presently serves on the
Boards of Malayan Cement
Berhad, Lingui Development
Berhad, Rohas-Euco Industrial
Berhad, Pacific & Orient Berhad and
Glenealy Plantations (Malaya)
Berhad. He is also a Board Member
of the Malaysian Danish Business
Council.

Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd Ghazali

bin Dato' Mohd. Seth, P.G.A.T., P.M.N.,

P.S.M., S.P.M.J., S.I.M.P., D.H.M.S., P.N.B.S.,

J.M.N., P.P.C., jssc, psc

Independent Non-Executive Director
Member of Audit Committee

Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd Ghazali
bin Dato' Mohd. Seth, aged 74, a
Malaysian, was appointed to the
Board on 11 July 1997.

Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd Ghazali
bin Dato' Mohd. Seth possesses
numerous military qualifications
from the United Kingdom, namely,
Military Officer from the Royal
Military College, Sandhurst, Military
Command & Staff from the Staff
College Camberly, Military
Intelligence from the Staff
Intelligence Ashford and Joint
Services from Staff College
Latimar. He retired as the Chief of
Armed Forces after 35 years of
service with the Malaysian Armed
Forces. He has also served as a
Senator in the Malaysian
Parliament and as a Vice-President
with the Ex-Servicemen Association.

Currently, Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd
Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd. Seth holds
directorships in Nestle (Malaysia)
Berhad and ABN Amro Bank Berhad.
He also holds positions in various
organisations, namely, Distinguished
Fellow with the Institute of Strategic
and International Studies (ISIS),
Chairman of the Board of Trustees of
Yayasan Amanah Pembinaan Insan,
Member of the Board of Trustees of
the Neuro Surgical Foundation,
Director of United World College,
Chairman of the Retired Armed
Forces Officers Club and a Member
of the Board of Trustees of the Johore
Malay Chamber of Commerce of
Malaysia.

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni

Tuanku Ja'afar, D.K., D.K.Y.R., S.P.N.S.,

S.P.M.P., P.P.T.

Independent Non-Executive Director
Member of Audit Committee

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni
Tuanku Ja'afar, aged 56, a
Malaysian, was appointed to the
Board on 6 August 1999.
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(MITI) for 34 years, and retired as its
Secretary General, a position he had
held for 9 years. Dealing with both
domestic and international trade
sectors at MITI, he had also worked
with several international bodies
such as ASEAN, WTO and APEC,
representing Malaysia in relevant
negotiations and agreements. Tan
Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin was
also actively involved in several
national organisations such as Johor
Corporation, the Small and Medium
Scale Industries and MATRADE.

Currently, Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin
Kamaludin is a Board Member of
Malaysian Pacific Industries Bhd,
UMW Holdings Berhad, Shangri-la
Hotels Malaysia Bhd, Lion Industries
Berhad, YTL Cement Berhad,
Commerce-Asset Holdings Berhad,
Matsushita Electric Company
(Malaysia) Berhad, Symphony House
Berhad, SCOMI Group Berhad and
Permodalan Nasional Berhad. He is
also a Member of a special
Committee set up by MITI to discuss
and monitor trade matters in relation
to the WTO.

Mogens Thomsen

Non-Executive Director

Mr Mogens Thomsen, aged 42, a
Dane, was appointed to the Board on
10 March 1999.

Mr Mogens Thomsen graduated from
the Copenhagen Business School
with a degree in International Trade
& Economics. He has been working
with the Carlsberg A/S Group for 22
years, beginning his career as a
Management Trainee and
subsequently holding positions
such as Product Manager, Regional
Sales Manager, General Manager and
Group Vice-President of Carlsberg
A/S and subsidiaries hereof in
Denmark, France, Cameroon, Ivory
Coast and Spain.

Mr Thomsen is presently the Sales
and Marketing Director of Carlsberg
Asia Holdings Pte Ltd as well as
Chairman of South East Asia Brewery
Ltd and Hue Brewery Ltd (both in
Vietnam) and a Director of Carlsberg
Singapore Pte Ltd.

Paul  Assar Bergqvist

Non-Executive Director

Mr Paul Assar Bergqvist, aged 56, a
Swede, was appointed to the Board
on 18 November 2002.

Mr Bergqvist graduated from a
Technical and Economic high
school. Prior to his appointment to
Carlsberg Malaysia, Mr Bergqvist
held several senior positions in
Sweden and was appointed as the
Executive Vice President of Carlsberg
Breweries A/S in 2001.

Currently, Mr Bergqvist is the
Chairman of the Danish Malting
Group and a member of the Board of
Carlsberg Asia Ltd. in Singapore,
Carlsberg-Tetley Brewing Ltd. in
England and Danbrew Ltd A/S in
Denmark. He is also a member of the
supervisory board of several
companies in Sweden, Russia and
Turkey.

Mr Bjorn Sondenskov

Managing Director

Mr Bjorn Sondenskov, aged 41, a
Dane, was appointed to the Board
on 1 April 2003.

Mr Sondenskov holds a Bachelor
of Science (Economics) degree
from the Copenhagen Business
School and a Diplome (a European
Masters in General Management)
from Ecole Europeenne des
Affaires (Paris-Oxford-Berlin)
which is part of the Chamber of
Commerce and Industry in Paris.
Prior to his appointment to
Carlsberg Malaysia, Mr
Sondenskov was the Director/Chief
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Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni
Tuanku Ja'afar read International
Politics at the University College of
Wales in Aberystwyth and
graduated with a Bachelor of
Science degree with Honours in
Economics from the same college.
Tunku served in the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs and was posted as
the 2nd Secretary with the
Malaysian Embassy in Paris. Tunku
later headed Antah Holdings
Berhad as its Chairman, a position
held till today, which was vacated
for a 5-year period during his
tenure as the Regent of Negeri
Sembilan from 1994 to 1999. Tunku
was also a Council Member of the
Business Council for Sustainable
Development, a Geneva-based
organisation, Founder and Head of
the Federation of Public Listed
Companies Berhad, Council
Member of the Canada-ASEAN
Centre and Committee Member of
the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange.

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni
Tuanku Ja'afar presently sits on the
Boards of Antah Holdings Berhad,
Malayawata Steel Berhad and Kian
Joo Can Factory Bhd.

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin,

P.S.M., P.J.N., J.S.M., S.M.J., K.M.N.

Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of Nomination Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin,
aged 59, a Malaysian, was appointed
to the Board on 1 February 2001.

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin
obtained a Bachelor of Economics
(Honours) degree from the
University of Malaya and later
graduated with distinction from a
special programme on the European
Economic Community in Amsterdam.
Tan Sri served in the Ministry of
International Trade and Industry



Financial Officer and member of
the Management Board of Hannen
Brauerei GmbH, Germany,
responsible for finance, controlling,
information technology and
production. Mr Sondenskov has
been working with the Carlsberg
A/S Group for 14 years, holding
various positions such as Regional
Manager, General Manager,
Senior General Manager and
Group Vice-President.

Mr Sondenskov does not hold any
directorships in public companies.

Chin Voon Loong

Executive Director

Mr Chin Voon Loong, aged 46,
a Malaysian, was appointed as
an Alternate Director to Mogens

Thomsen on 10 March 1999.
Mr  Chin  was subsequent ly
appointed as  a  Di rector  on
1 April 2003.

Mr Chin obtained a Bachelor of
Science (Honours) degree in
Systems and Management from
The City of London University and
is a Fellow Member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He is also a
Chartered  Accountant with the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants,
an Associate Member of the
Malaysian Institute of Taxation and
a Member of the Institute of
Company Secretaries, Malaysia.
He was employed by Messrs Ernst
& Whinney in London and
subsequently, by the same firm in
Kuala Lumpur. Mr Chin has worked
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Management Team

1 Bjorn Sondenskov

Managing Director (not in picture)

2 Chin Voon Loong

Executive Director/
Chief Financial Officer/
Company Secretary

3 Martin James Cecil

Technical Manager

4 Chan Chee Seng

Corporate Services Manager

5 Walter Yu Teh Meng

National Sales Manager

6 Johan Skov Jensen

Market Development Consultant

6 4 2 5

with Carlsberg Malaysia for 16
years. He currently holds the
position of Chief Financial Officer/
Company Secretary of Carlsberg
Malaysia and Commercial Director
of Carlsberg Marketing Sdn Bhd.

Mr Chin is a director of The Lion
Brewery Ceylon Limited (Sri
Lanka).

Other information on Directors

None of the Directors have any
family relationship with any
director/major shareholder of the
Group and the Company, nor any
interest in any business
arrangement involving the Group
and the Company. None of them
have had any convictions for any
offences within the past 10 years.
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CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Pale yellow

• Alcohol Content

5.0%

• Pack Size

Can 320 ml
Pint bottle 325ml
Quart 640 ml
Draught 22.7 litres

Since its inception, Carlsberg Malaysia has substantially increased production
of the Carlsberg range of products. In addition to Carlsberg Green Label - the
undisputed leader in the local beer market, the range also includes Carlsberg
Special Brew, Carl’s, Carlsberg Ice Beer, Chang Beer, Royal Stout, Jolly Shandy,
Nutrimalt and Tetley’s.

The signature lager.

Carl’s unique balance of rich aroma, bitterness

and smoothness make it a favourite among

sophisticated drinkers who enjoy

the finer things in life.



Cha i rCha i rCha i rCha i rCha i rm a n ’m a n ’m a n ’m a n ’m a n ’sssss
Sta tementS ta tementS ta tementS ta tementS ta tement

On behalf of the Board
of Directors of Carlsberg Brewery
Malaysia Berhad, I am pleased
to present the Annual Report and
the Audited Financial Statements
of the Group and the Company for
the financial year ended
31 December 2002.
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Chairman’s Statement (contd.)

Shareholders’ funds increased by
0.5% to RM539.8 million from

RM536.9 million in 2001. Earnings
per share was 66.9 sen compared

to 83.0 sen in 2001. The Group’s
net tangible asset was unchanged

at RM3.54 per share.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The year under review was a

challenging period with a high level
of competitive activities. The Group

continued to successfully maintain
its market leadership in the overall

beer and stout market.

Carlsberg Pilsner was given a fresh
new look with the launch of the

green bottles in line with the global
look for the product. This was

supported with a high profile
advertising campaign. It is

expected that this change will
further strengthen the market

share leadership position.

A new beer, Chang Beer, was
launched during the year. Chang

Beer is a high quality and
affordable product that gives good

value to consumers. The Group is
optimistic that this will be a success

in the Malaysian beer market. The
Group also changed its packaging

for the Jolly Shandy cans and at
the same time introduced a new

orange flavoured shandy. The
Group believes that there is

potential for growth in the shandy
market.

10 CARLSBERG BREWERY MALAYSIA BERHAD

OVERVIEW

The Malaysian economy performed
relatively well in 2002 on the back

of strong domestic demand and
encouraging export performance

despite difficult global economic
circumstances caused by the weak

US economy and a protracted stock
market slump. In the beer and stout

industry, competitive activities
were intensified to a new high. With

these activities the Malaysian duty
paid beer and stout markets

registered increases in volumes.
Meanwhile, low priced imported

beers and the availability of
smuggled beer continue to affect

the local beer and stout markets.

The Group continued to maintain
its market leadership in the beer

market and grow its market share
in the stout market through

appropriate marketing and sales
activities.

OPERATING RESULTS

Group revenue for the year under
review at RM838.8 million was

0.3% lower than 2001. The lower
revenue was primarily due to

lower export sales.

Group profit before tax declined by
21.6% or RM34.8 million to

RM126.8 million compared to the
previous year. The decline in profits

was mainly attributable to the high
trade discounting as a result of the

intense price competition in the
market.



The Group continued its long
association with sports

development through its
sponsorship of various sport

activities. Some of the major
sponsorship activities during the

year were the Carlsberg
Malaysian Open and Carlsberg

Malaysia Rugby Sevens. The
Group also continued with its

sponsorship of the Malaysian
Olympic Council, cricket and table

tennis.

The Carlsberg-Nanyang Top Ten
Charity Concert continued its long

run and had raised around RM200
million since it was first started in

1986. The Computer Education
Fund continued with its fund

raising campaigns during 2002 to
provide computers to Chinese

schools and interest free financial
assistance to deserving students

to pursue tertiary education in
information technology. The

Group also contributed to the
Indian community by continuing to

support the Education, Welfare
and Research Foundation (EWRF).

Carlsberg took the number 2

position in AC Nielsen’s inaugural
list of Malaysia’s top 100 brands by

sales, outperforming all the other
brewing industry brands. In the

Reader’s Digest Asia’s SuperBrands
Survey 2002 for Malaysia,

Carlsberg took the Platinum Winner
Award for three years in a row in

the beer category and was the only
beer brand to make it to the super

brand status in 2002.

SHARE BUY-BACK

There were no further buyback of
shares during the year under

review.

The 1,165,000 ordinary shares
representing 0.76 per cent of the

issued and paid up share capital of
the Company purchased in 1999 at

an average price of RM10.34 per
share have been retained as

treasury shares.

The Board of Directors have
recommended to the shareholders

to approve the renewal of the
share buy-back programme, the

details of which have been included
in the Circular to shareholders.

EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION

SCHEME

Since the last allotment of share

options comprising 1,265,000
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each at

RM8.09 per share on 26 October
1998, there had been no further

allotment during 2002.

The share options were
exercisable from 27 October 2001

and as at 14 March 2003, 715,000
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

had been issued at RM8.09 per
share for cash, upon the exercise

of the options granted.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Resulting from the exercise of the
above mentioned share options,

the issued and paid-up share
capital of the Company has

increased to 153,715,000 ordinary
shares of RM1.00 each as at

14 March 2003. The share premium
arising from this issue amounted

to RM5.1 million.

OVERSEAS INVESTMENT

The Lion Brewery Ceylon Ltd

(TLBCL) performed satisfactorily
during the year under review. The

Group’s share of the income from
TLBCL for the twelve months to 30

September 2002 amounting to
RM2.2 million had been included in

the financial statements for 2002.

With the improvement in the
investment climate in Sri Lanka and

the performance of the TLBCL
share price on the Colombo Stock

Exchange, the Group’s provision
for the diminution in value of its

investment in TLBCL amounting to
RM4.6 million was no longer

required and was written back
during 2002.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The various Board Committees
have met in 2002 and had been

effective in ensuring corporate
governance. Details of the roles

and responsibilities of the Board
Committees have been set out in

the Statement of Corporate
Governance.

DIVIDENDS

The Company paid a gross
interim dividend of 10 sen per

share less Malaysian income tax
on 11 October 2002.

The Board is recommending the

payment of a final gross dividend
of 15 sen per share less Malaysian

income tax in respect of the 2002
financial year.

The Board is also recommending

the payment of a special tax
exempt dividend of 50 sen per

share after taking into
consideration the Group’s funding

requirements for operational and
strategic needs.

The above dividends are subject

to shareholders’ approval. Upon
approval, the final and special

dividends would be paid on
23 May 2003.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2003

The growth in the domestic
consumption of beer and stout will

continue to be affected by the
economic climate in Malaysia, the

increasing presence of smuggled
beer products and the growing

availability of low priced beer from
neighbouring Asean countries. The

highly intense price competitive
environment is also expected to

continue in the foreseeable future.

The Group will continue its efforts
to maintain its market leadership

in the beer sector and increase its
market share for stout. In this, the

Group will leverage on the strong
brand equity of the Carlsberg

Green Label Pilsner beer, which is
three times that of its nearest

competitor based on an
independent survey conducted.

Barring any unforeseen

circumstances, the Group’s
performance for the year 2003 is

expected to be satisfactory.

APPRECIATION

Since the last Annual General
Meeting, Mr Michael Iuul had

resigned from the Board. The Board
wishes to record its appreciation

to Mr Michael Iuul for his
contributions and guidance to the

Group.

On behalf of the Board and
Management of Carlsberg

Brewery Malaysia Berhad, I thank
all the shareholders, wholesalers,

customers and consumers for their
continued confidence and support

for the Group.

I also wish to express the Board’s
appreciation to the Management

and all the employees of the Group
for contributing to the successful

performance of the Group through
their dedication and commitment.

DATO’ JORGEN BORNHOFT

Chairman

Shah Alam

4 April 2003
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CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Golden yellow

• Alcohol Content

5.0%

• Pack Size

Can 320 ml
Pint bottle 325ml
Quart 635 ml

Since its inception, Carlsberg Malaysia has substantially increased production
of the Carlsberg range of products. In addition to Carlsberg Green Label - the
undisputed leader in the local beer market, the range also includes Carlsberg
Special Brew, Carl’s, Carlsberg Ice Beer, Chang Beer, Royal Stout, Jolly Shandy,
Nutrimalt and Tetley’s.

The real man’s beer.

Chang Beer is the  latest addition to the

brewery’s range of high quality beers. In

today’s competitive market condition, together

with our partner Beer Thai Company Limited in

Bangkok, we are successful in giving beer

drinkers a new taste at better value. In

Malaysia, Chang Beer is brewed full-bodied

with a little more bite, yet tastes distinctively

smooth and uniquely refreshing.



Penyata Pengerusi

GAMBARAN KESELURUHAN

Ekonomi Malaysia menunjukkan prestasi yang agak baik
pada tahun 2002 hasil rangsangan permintaan dalam
negeri dan prestasi eksport yang menggalakkan dalam
pada keadaan ekonomi sejagat yang sukar akibat ekonomi
Amerika yang lemah dan kemerosotan pasaran saham
yang berpanjangan. Dalam industri bir dan stout kegiatan-
kegiatan bersaingan naik ke tahap yang lebih hebat.
Dengan kegiatan-kegiatan ini, pasaran bir dan stout duti
berbayar Malaysia mencatatkan pertumbuhan. Sementara
itu, harga rendah bir import dan terdapatnya bir seludup
terus menjejaskan pasaran bir dan stout tempatan.

Kumpulan terus mengekalkan kedudukan utama dalam
pasaran bir dan melalui kegiatan pemasaran dan jualan
yang berpatutan telah menambahkan agihan dalam
pasaran stout.

KEPUTUSAN OPERASI

Perolehan Kumpulan pada tahun dalam kajian sebanyak
RM838.8 juta adalah 0.3% lebih rendah berbanding tahun
2001. Punca utama perolehan yang lebih rendah ini adalah
pengurangan jualan eksport.

Keuntungan Kumpulan sebelum cukai susut sebanyak
21.6% atau RM34.8 juta ke RM126.8 juta berbanding tahun
sebelumnya. Pengurangan ini sebahagian besarnya
disebabkan oleh diskaun dagangan akibat persaingan
harga yang hebat dalam pasaran.

Tabung pemegang saham bertambah sebanyak 0.5%
ke RM539.8 juta dari RM536.9 juta dalam tahun 2001.
Pendapatan sesaham adalah 66.9 sen berbanding 83.0
sen dalam tahun 2001. Aset ketara bersih bagi
Kumpulan kekal pada RM3.54 sesaham.

Bagi pihak Lembaga Pengarah Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad saya
dengan sukacitanya membentangkan Laporan Tahunan dan Penyata-Penyata
Kewangan Beraudit bagi Kumpulan dan Syarikat untuk tahun kewangan
berakhir 31 Disember 2002.

ULASAN OPERASI

Tahun dalam kajian adalah masa yang penuh dengan
cabaran di mana kegiatan persaingan berada pada
tahap yang tinggi. Kumpulan berjaya mengekalkan
kedudukan ulungnya dalam pasaran keseluruhan bir
dan stout.

Carlsberg Pilsner diberi penampilan baru apabila
dilancarkan dalam botol hijau sejajar dengan imej
sejagat produk. Pelancarannya disokong dengan
kempen iklan yang menonjol. Perubahan ini dijangka
akan mengeratkan lagi kedudukan ulung agihan
pasaran.

Dalam tahun yang sama bir baru, Bir Chang telah
dilancarkan. Bir Chang merupakan produk bermutu
tinggi, mampu dibeli dan berbaloi dengan harganya
buat konsumer. Kumpulan adalah optimistik tentang
kejayaannya dalam pasaran bir Malaysia. Kumpulan
juga telah menukarkan corak pembungkusan bagi Jolly
Shandy dalam tin dan pada masa yang sama,
memperkenalkan perisa oren baru. Kumpulan percaya
pasaran shandy mempunyai potensi untuk
berkembang.

Kumpulan meneruskan kaitan berpanjangannya
dengan perkembangan sukan melalui tajaan beberapa
kegiatan sukan. Antara tajaan yang terbesar dalam
tempoh tahun ialah Terbuka Malaysia Carlsberg dan
Ragbi Sevens Malaysia Carlsberg. Kumpulan juga
meneruskan penajaan Majlis Olimpik Malaysia, kriket
dan pingpong.
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Penyata Pengerusi (sambungan)

Konsert Amal Carlsberg-Nanyang Top Ten masih
diteruskan dan telah mengutip sebanyak RM200 juta
sejak dimulakan dalam tahun 1986. Tabung Pendidikan
Komputer meneruskan kempen mengutip derma
dalam tahun 2002 untuk menyediakan komputer bagi
sekolah-sekolah Cina dan bantuan kewangan tanpa
faedah untuk pelajar-pelajar yang layak menerima
untuk meneruskan pengajian tinggi dalam bidang
teknologi maklumat. Kumpulan juga memberi
sumbangannya kepada masyarakat Hindu dengan
meneruskan bantuan buat Yayasan Pendidikan,
Kebajikan dan Penyelidikan.

Carlsberg menduduki tempat kedua mengalahkan
jenama lain industri bir, dalam senarai sulung AC
Nielsen bagi jualan tertinggi 100 jenama Malaysia.
Dalam tinjauan Superbrand Reader’s Digest Asia 2002
bagi Malaysia, Carlsberg menerima Anugerah
Pemenang Platinum tiga tahun berturut-turut bagi
kategori bir dan dalam tahun 2002 merupakan satu-
satunya jenama bir yang berjaya mendapat status
super brand.

BELIAN BALIK SAHAM

Dalam tempoh tahun yang sedang dikaji tiada lagi
belian balik saham.

Sebanyak 1,165,000 saham biasa yang merupakan
0.76 peratus daripada modal saham terbitan dan
berbayar Syarikat dibeli dalam tahun 1999 dengan
harga purata RM10.34 sesaham dipegang sebagai
saham perbendaharaan.

Lembaga Pengarah telah mengesyorkan kepada
pemegang saham untuk meluluskan pembaharuan
program pembelian balik saham di mana butiran
dilampirkan dalam edaran kepada pemegang saham.

SKIM OPSYEN SAHAM PEKERJA

Sejak peruntukan opsyen saham yang terakhir pada
26 Oktober 1998 yang melibatkan 1,265,000 saham
biasa RM1.00 sesaham pada harga RM8.09, tiada lagi
peruntukan dibuat dalam tahun 2002.

Opsyen saham mula dibeli dari 27 Oktober 2001 dan
setakat 14 Mac 2003, 715,000 saham biasa RM1.00
sesaham telah dikeluarkan pada harga RM8.09 tunai
sesaham, apabila belian opsyen diluluskan.

MODAL SAHAM

Akibat pembelian opsyen saham yang disebut di atas,
modal saham terbitan dan berbayar Syarikat telah
bertambah ke 153,715,000 saham biasa RM1.00
sesaham pada 14 Mac 2003. Premium saham yang
timbul dari terbitan ini berjumlah RM5.1juta.

PELABURAN LUAR NEGARA

The Lion Brewery Ceylon Ltd (TLBCL) mencatatkan
prestasi yang memuaskan dalam tempoh tahun
sedang dikaji. Untuk tempoh dua belas bulan hingga
30 September 2002 bahagian pendapatan Kumpulan
dari TLBCL sebanyak RM2.2 juta telah dimasukkan ke
dalam penyata-penyata kewangan tahun 2002.

Dengan suasana pelaburan di Sri Lanka dan prestasi
harga saham TLBCL di Bursa Saham Colombo
bertambah baik, peruntukan Kumpulan untuk
pengecilan nilai pelaburan dalam TLBCL yang
berjumlah RM4.6 juta tidak lagi diperlukan dan telah
dipulangkan dalam tahun 2002.
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JAWATANKUASA-JAWATANKUASA LEMBAGA

Semua jawatankuasa telah mengadakan perjumpaan
dalam tahun 2002 dan telah menunjukkan
keberkesanannya dalam memastikan urus tadbir
koporat. Maklumat terperinci mengenai peranan dan
tanggungjawab Jawatankuasa-Jawatankuasa
Lembaga telah dijelaskan dalam Penyata Urus Tadbir
Koporat.

DIVIDEN

Syarikat telah membayar dividen kasar interim
sebanyak 10 sen bagi setiap saham ditolak cukai
pendapatan Malaysia pada 11 Oktober 2002.

Lembaga mengesyorkan bayaran dividen kasar
muktamad sebanyak 15 sen bagi setiap saham ditolak
cukai pendapatan Malaysia bagi tahun kewangan
2002.

Setelah mengambil kira peruntukan kewangan
Syarikat untuk keperluan operasi dan strategi,
Lembaga juga mengesyorkan bayaran dividen
istimewa dikecualikan cukai sebanyak 50 sen
sesaham.

Dividen-dividen diatas adalah tertakluk kepada
kelulusan dari pemegang-pemegang saham. Apabila
diluluskan, dividen muktamad dan istimewa akan
dibayar pada 23 Mei 2003.

TINJAUAN TAHUN 2003

Suasana ekonomi Malaysia, penyeludupan barangan
bir yang kian meningkat dan munculnya dengan
berleluasa bir berharga rendah dari jiran negara-
negara Asean akan terus menjejaskan pertumbuhan
penggunaan tempatan bir dan stout. Sejauh yang
nampak pada masa depan, keadaan persaingan harga
yang hebat juga dijangka akan berterusan.

Kumpulan akan meneruskan usahanya dalam
mengekalkan kedudukan utamanya dalam segmen
pasaran bir serta menambahkan lagi agihan pasaran
dalam segmen stout. Dalam hal ini, Kumpulan akan
mengguna kelebihan ekuiti jenama bir Carlsberg Green
Label Pilsner yang kuat iaitu tiga kali ganda berbanding
pesaingnya yang terdekat, berdasarkan tinjauan bebas
yang telah dijalankan.

Prestasi Kumpulan bagi tahun 2003 dijangka
memuaskan, kecuali berlakunya peristiwa di luar
dugaan.

PENGHARGAAN

Sejak Mesyuarat Agung Tahunan yang terakhir, Encik
Michael Iuul telah meletakkan jawatannya dalam
Lembaga. Pihak Lembaga ingin merakamkan
penghargaannya kepada Encik Michael Iuul atas segala
sumbangan dan panduan beliau terhadap Kumpulan.

Bagi pihak Lembaga dan Pengurusan Carlsberg
Brewery Malaysia Berhad, saya mengucapkan terima
kasih kepada semua pemegang saham, pemborong,
pelanggan dan konsumer atas sokongan dan
keyakinan mereka yang berterusan terhadap
Kumpulan.

Saya juga ingin menyampaikan penghargaan pihak
Lembaga kepada Pengurusan dan semua kakitangan
Kumpulan yang telah menyumbang kepada kejayaan
prestasi Kumpulan melalui dedikasi dan komitmen
mereka.

DATO’ JORGEN BORNHOFT

Pengerusi

Shah Alam
4 April 2003
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CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Black

• Alcohol Content

8.0%

• Pack Size

Can 320 ml
Pint bottle 325ml
Quart 680 ml

Since its inception, Carlsberg Malaysia has substantially increased production
of the Carlsberg range of products. In addition to Carlsberg Green Label - the
undisputed leader in the local beer market, the range also includes Carlsberg
Special Brew, Carl’s, Carlsberg Ice Beer, Chang Beer, Royal Stout, Jolly Shandy,
Nutrimalt and Tetley’s.

The honest  to
goodness stout.

Royal Stout was introduced to the Malaysian

market in 1992 to complement the existing

range of products. Over the past years, the

brand has grown steadily to make a significant

impact in the overall Malaysian Stout market.

The growing popularity of Royal Stout is

attributed to its value for money pricing, high

quality brew and taste.
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CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Blonde

• Alcohol Content

5.6%

• Pack Size

Pint bottle 325ml

Since its inception, Carlsberg Malaysia has substantially increased production
of the Carlsberg range of products. In addition to Carlsberg Green Label - the
undisputed leader in the local beer market, the range also includes Carlsberg
Special Brew, Carl’s, Carlsberg Ice Beer, Chang Beer, Royal Stout, Jolly Shandy,
Nutrimalt and Tetley’s.

The chill-out beer.

Carlsberg Ice Beer is produced through an ice

brewing process where the temperature is

reduced to minus four degree Celsius when ice

crystals begin to form. The crystals are then

removed resulting in a beer with an

extraordinary balance, rich in flavour, smooth

and easy to drink.



INTRODUCING ANOTHER CHOICE OF QUALITY BEER

Chang Beer, a new addition to the Group’s product portfolio was introduced in August to offer beer consumers

a further choice of a quality product at value for money pricing.

Chang Beer was originally brewed in 1995 by Carlsberg’s Thai partner, Beer Thai Co Ltd in Bangkok, Thailand.
Within five years of its introduction, Chang Beer became the leading national beer in Thailand. Today it is the

number one national beer in Thailand claiming market share of around 60 per cent.

ADDRESSING THE NEED TO CHANGE

In line with the Group’s continuous pursuit of excellence, a new packaging was
launched for Carlsberg Green Label. The change in packaging from amber to green

bottles represents the global look for Carlsberg Green Label which is available in
more than 150 countries around the world.

The bottle represents a fresh ultra cool new look while the same perfect quality

beer is maintained. This trendy and contemporary packaging is expected to sustain
the Group’s market share and sales growth momentum.

2002 Overview

Launch of the Green Bottle.
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NEW LOOK AND NEW FLAVOUR FOR JOLLY SHANDY

To coincide with the 2003 Chinese New Year festivities as
well as to address the changing tastes of the young and

trendy, Jolly Shandy was introduced with a new orange
flavour and a new refreshing look in December 2002.

The complete redesign of Jolly Shandy’s packaging

gives the product a fun, outgoing, active, energetic,
stylish innovative, contemporary and youthful look.

Since its launch in 1985, Jolly Shandy has been enjoying

steady growth. It complements Carlsberg’s product
portfolio to suit consumer tastes on social occasions.

Chang Beer is the latest
addition to the Group’s

product portfolio.

Launching of the
new look and flavour

for Jolly Shandy.

Carlsberg Malaysia is confident that this high quality
beer, recognized by the Australian International Beer

Awards as a gold medal beer, will yet be another
successful product in the Malaysian beer market.
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REACHING OUT TO CONSUMERS

In keeping with the strategy of involving the Carlsberg brand in
prestige sports, the Group continued its sponsorship of the Carlsberg

Malaysian Open which was staged at the Royal Selangor Golf Club.

The 2002 tournament was the richest national open golf
championship on the Asian PGA tour with USD1.0 million prize

money. The players included stars like Michael Campbell, Padraig
Harrington, Ian Woosnam, Nick Faldo and Jean Van De Velde. Alastair

Forsyth of Scotland won the title.

2002 Overview (contd.)

Carlsberg Malaysian
Open 2002 prize
presentation ceremony.
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The Group also sponsored the 2002 Carlsberg Malaysia Sevens rugby event which was played to a packed

stadium at the Petaling Jaya Stadium in Kelana Jaya. Sixteen countries took part in the tournament which had
been included in the prestigious IRB World Sevens Series since 2001.

Carlsberg caught up with the World Cup fever by
organizing a football campaign during the month of

June. Beer promotions were conducted at various venues
as the World Cup matches were being screened.

World Cup 2002 promotion
at Carlsberg outlets.

2002 Carlsberg Malaysia Sevens
rugby teams in action.
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2002 Overview (contd.)

Alan Tam at his concert
sponsored by Carlsberg.

On the music scene, consumers and music fans were rewarded with
a memorable evening of premium quality entertainment at the Alan

Tam Golden Concert 2002. This Carlsberg Hot Trax sponsorship is a
community relation programme geared to promote music and the

arts amongst loyal Carlsberg supporters and young adults.

Carlsberg continued its support for jazz music with the staging of four
weekends of jazz performances at the Mont Kiara fountain courtyard.

A total of ten groups, four of which are international bands, provided
live entertainment at the Carl’s Sunrise Jazz Festival.

Recipients for the study
loan under the Computer
Education Fund.

The Computer Education Fund, jointly undertaken by Carlsberg and the Federation of Chinese Associations
Malaysia raised a sum of RM0.45 million in year 2002. The funds raised will continue to be used to grant study

loans, to Chinese students pursuing IT education in universities and colleges.

Carl’s Sunrise Jazz Festival.



COMMITMENT TO QUALITY

The new state-of-the-art brewhouse  was officially opened by the Deputy Minister of the Ministry of International
Trade and Industry, Datuk Kerk Choo Ting, in September 2002. With this new plant, Carlsberg would be able to

increase its annual production capacity by thirty per cent from 1 million hectoliters to 1.3 million hectoliters.

This fully automated brew house brings the Group’s total plant and equipment investment over the last four
years to above RM100 million.

DEPOT RELOCATION

Staff at the  Central Depot moved into

their new office at Lot 22, Jalan
Pengapit, Shah Alam in May 2002.

Acquired in 1996, the property adjoins
the brewery at the south-western end

and houses a three-storey office block
and a warehouse.
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Official Opening of the new brew
house by Datuk Kerk Choo Ting.

New pre-run vessel,
wort kettle and whirlpool.



CHARACTERISTICS:

• Colour

Dark Gold

• Alcohol Content

8.8%

• Pack Size

Can 320ml
Pint bottle 325ml
Quart bottle 680ml

Since its inception, Carlsberg Malaysia has substantially increased production
of the Carlsberg range of products. In addition to Carlsberg Green Label - the
undisputed leader in the local beer market, the range also includes Carlsberg
Special Brew, Carl’s, Carlsberg Ice Beer, Chang Beer, Royal Stout, Jolly Shandy,
Nutrimalt and Tetley’s.

The original strong beer.

Special Brew is undoubtedly the original strong

beer in Malaysia since the brand was first

introduced to the market in 1974 . Special

Brew has a rich, robust and challenging taste.

The alcohol strength of 8.8% by volume is very

well received by our loyal consumers who

prefer a stronger beer.



Provision of Details Reasons

  the code

Given the current composition of the Board, in
particular its strong and independent element, the

Board does not consider it necessary to nominate a
recognised Senior Independent Non-Executive

Director.

AA.VII Nomination of a Senior
Independent Non-

Executive Director to
whom concerns may be

conveyed.

Statement of Corporate Governance
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B.III Disclosure of details of the

remuneration of each
director

The Board has considered this Principle against the

backdrop of compliance with a related disclosure
required under the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange

Rules, i.e. that of disclosure of an analysis of Directors'
Remuneration by applicable bands of RM50,000 (refer

to Note 7 to the accounts).

The Board is of the view that the transparency and
accountability aspects of corporate governance as

applicable to Directors' Remuneration are appropriately
served by the 'band disclosure' made.

The Board of Directors is committed to ensuring that the highest standards of corporate governance are
practiced throughout the Group as a fundamental part of discharging its responsibilities to protect and

enhance shareholder value and the financial performance of the Group.

To this end, the Board continues to implement the recommendations of the Malaysian Code of Corporate
Governance ("Code"), which sets out the principles and best practices on structures and processes that

companies may use in their operations towards achieving the optimal governance framework.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The Group has not complied with the Principle and Best Practice of the Code set out in the schedule below

throughout the year. The reason for non-compliance is specified accordingly.



The statement in the ensuing paragraphs describes how the Group has applied the principles and best practices

of the Code.

A. DIRECTORS

I. The Board

An effective Board leads and controls the Group whereby collective decision and/or close monitoring is

conducted on issues relating to strategy, performance, resources, standards of conduct and financial matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2002, 6 Board Meetings were held. The following is the record of
attendance of the Board Members :-

Directors No. of meetings attended

Michael Iuul (resigned on 18.11.2002) 5/6

Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft 6/6

Chan Hua Eng 6/6

Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd. Seth 6/6

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni Tuanku Ja'afar 4/6

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin 5/6

Mogens Thomsen 6/6

Paul Assar Bergqvist (appointed on 18.11.2002) -

Bjorn Sondenskov (appointed on 1.4.2003) -

Chin Voon Loong (appointed on 1.4.2003) -
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Statement of Corporate Governance (contd.)

The Board intends to meet at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened where necessary.

In the intervals between Board meetings, for exceptional matters requiring urgent Board decisions, Board

decisions are obtained via circular resolutions which are attached with sufficient information required for an
informed decision.

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to the following Board Committees :-

1. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 15 April 1994. Please refer to the Audit Committee Report on
page 38.

2. Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 1 October 2001. The Committee had 2 meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2002.
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Members

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin - Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Chan Hua Eng (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft (Executive Chairman*)

Key responsibilities

• Reviewing the Board composition and recommending new nominees to the Board as well as Board
committees for the Directors' consideration.

• Assessing the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and each Director every year, taking
into consideration the required mix of skills and experience and other requisite qualities including

core competencies contributed by Non-Executive Directors.

3. Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which was established on 18 August 2001, had 3 meetings during the

year ended 31 December 2002.

Members

Chan Hua Eng - Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft (Executive Chairman*)

Key responsibilities

• Recommending the level of the Executive Directors' remuneration package.
• Evaluating the remuneration packages of senior management executives.

4. ESOS Committee

The ESOS Committee was set up on 30 April 1998. Meetings of the ESOS Committee are held when
necessary. During the year ended 31 December 2002, no meeting was held.

Members

Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft (Executive Chairman*)
Chan Hua Eng (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Key responsibilities

Administering the Carlsberg Employees’ Share Option Scheme in accordance with the objectives and
regulations as stated in the Bye-Laws which include :-

• Recommending to establish, amend and revoke any rules or arrangement relating to the ESOS
where necessary.

• Determining all questions of policy and expediency that may arise in the administration of the ESOS
and exercising such powers and performing such acts where necessary.

Note*: Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft, who was previously the Managing Director, was appointed as Executive
Chairman on 18.11.2002. On 1.4.2003, he stepped down as Executive Chairman but remains as
Chairman.
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II. Board Balance

Upon the internal restructuring of CBMB’s major shareholder, Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd, the then Chairman of CBMB,

Michael Iuul, resigned on 18 November 2002 and for the purposes of continuity, Dato’ Jorgen Bornhoft was
appointed as the Executive Chairman which combined the roles of Chairman and Managing Director. The strong

independent element of the Board, whereby more than 50% were independent, ensured a balance of power and
authority at this time.

On 1 April 2003, upon the change in Dato’ Jorgen Bornhoft’s Board position from Executive Chairman to Chairman,

and the appointment of Bjorn Sondenskov as Managing Director, the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman
and Managing Director are made clearly distinct to further enhance the existing balance of power and authority.

The Chairman holds a Non-Executive position and is primarily responsible for matters pertaining to the Board and
the overall conduct of the Group. The Managing Director oversees the running of the Group and the implementation

of the Board’s decisions and policies.

During the year, the Board had 7 members, comprising 6 Non-Executive Directors and 1 Managing Director/
Executive Chairman. Out of the 7 Directors, 4 were Independent Directors, which was in excess of the statutory

requirement of one-third. From 1 April 2003 onwards, the Board has 9 members consisting of 7 Non-Executive
Directors and 2 Executive Directors. Out of the 9 Directors, 4 are Independent Directors, which still exceeds the

one-third statutory requirement. Collectively, the Directors bring a wide range of business, legal, financial and
technical experience relevant to the Group. The profile of each Director is summarised under pages 5 to 7.

The presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors ensures that issues of strategies, performance and resources

proposed by the management are objectively evaluated, taking into consideration the long-term interests of
shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and other communities in which the Group conducts its business.

The relatively large number of Independent Directors also ensure that the investment of minority shareholders is
fairly reflected through Board representation.

III. Supply of Information

All Directors are furnished with a comprehensive Board File including the meeting agenda usually at least 2 weeks
before each Board meeting. Sufficient time is given to enable the Directors to solicit further explanations and/or

information, where necessary, so that deliberations at the meeting are focused and constructive.

The Board File includes, amongst others, sales and marketing development and strategies, financial results and
forecasts, status of major projects, minutes of meetings of Board Committees and other major operational,

financial and legal issues. In addition, there is a schedule of matters reserved specifically for the Board's decision.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary as well as to all information within
the Group. There is also a formal procedure sanctioned by the Board of Directors, whether as a full board or in their

individual capacity, to take independent professional advice, where necessary and in appropriate circumstances,
in furtherance of their duties, at the Group's expense.
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IV. Appointments to the Board

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance endorses, as good practice, the setting up of a Nomination

Committee to formalise procedures for appointments to the Board. Although the Code states that this procedure
may be performed by the Board as a whole, as a matter of best practice, it recommends that this responsibility be

delegated to a committee.

To this end, the Nomination Committee  is charged with the responsibility of, amongst others, recommending the
appointment of new Directors to the Board.

Carlsberg has an induction and education programme for new Board members, which includes a visit to the

brewery and meetings with the Chairman and department heads to better understand the operations and business
of the Group, which will allow the Director to contribute effectively from the outset of the appointment.

In addition, a formal schedule of matters requiring Board's approval is furnished to the new Director which

includes, amongst others, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, authority levels, treasury policies, risk
management policies and corporate plans and budget.

V. Re-election

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to election at the first Annual
General Meeting after their appointment.

The Articles also provide that at least one third of the Directors be subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual

General Meeting. Directors over 70 years of age are required to submit themselves for re-appointment at every
Annual General Meeting in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.

B. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

I. Remuneration Policy

The objective of the Group's remuneration policy is to attract and retain the Directors required to lead and control
the Group effectively. In the case of Executive Directors, the components of the remuneration package are linked
to corporate and individual performance. For Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration is reflective of
their experience and level of responsibilities.

II. Remuneration Procedure

The Remuneration Committee recommends for the Board's approval, the framework of executive remuneration
and its cost level of the Executive Directors’ remuneration package.

Non-Executive Directors' fees are determined by the Board as a whole with the Director concerned abstaining from
deliberations and voting on decisions in respect of his fee.

The fees payable to Directors are subject to the approval of shareholders.

III. Details of Remuneration

Details of the number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors in remuneration bands of RM50,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2002 are disclosed in the Statutory Accounts as Note 7 of the Notes to the Accounts.
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C. INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of an effective communications channel between the Board, shareholders
and general public.

The annual reports, press releases, quarterly results and any announcements on material corporate exercises are
the primary modes of disseminating information on the Group's business activities and financial performance.

The Annual General Meeting represents the principal forum for dialogue and interaction with shareholders. At
every meeting, the Board sets out the progress and performance of the Group since the last meeting held.
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the subsequent question and answer session wherein Directors,
Heads of Department as well as the Group's Auditors are available to respond to the queries raised. In the event
that an answer cannot be readily given at the meeting, the Chairman will undertake to provide a written reply to the
shareholder.

Each item of special business included in the notice of meeting will be accompanied by a full explanation of the
effects of a proposed resolution.

During the year, the Chairman and/or key management personnel also hold discussions with the press and
analysts when necessary, to provide information on the Group's strategy, performance and major developments.
A press briefing is also held after each Annual General Meeting.

In addition, the Group maintains a website at www.carlsberg.com.my for shareholders and the public to access
information on, amongst others, the Group's background and products, financial performance, frequently-asked
questions (FAQs) and updates on its various sponsorships and promotions.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

I. Financial Reporting

In presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly announcement of results to shareholders, the Board
takes responsibility in conveying a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and prospects.

A statement by Directors of their responsibilities in preparing the financial statements is set out on page 43 of this
Annual Report.

II. Internal Controls

The Board of Directors has always placed significant emphasis on sound internal controls which are necessary to
safeguard the Group's assets and shareholders' investment. To this end, the Board affirms its overall responsibility
for the Group's internal controls system which encompasses risk management practices as well as financial,
operational and compliance controls. However, it should be noted that such system, by its nature, manages but
not eliminates risks and therefore can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement, loss or fraud.

Ongoing reviews are performed throughout the year to identify, evaluate, monitor and manage significant risks
affecting the business and ensure that adequate and effective controls are in place. Such continuous review
processes are conducted by the Group's independent and adequately resourced internal audit function as well as
the management team. The findings of the internal audit function are regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

III. Relationship with Auditors

The role of the Audit Committee in relation to the external auditors is described on pages 41 to 42.
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Responsibility

The Board is committed to the continuous improvement to internal controls and risk management practices
within the Group to meet its business objectives. The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk management, and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity
of these systems. However, such systems, by their nature, can only provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement, loss and fraud. These systems are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives of the Group.

Risk Management Framework

The Group has in place an on-going process for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and managing the significant
risks affecting the achievement of its business objectives. This is an on-going process, subject to regular review
by the Board, and accords with the “Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed
Companies”. The key elements of the Group’s Risk Management Framework are described below :-

• Structure

The Group adopts a decentralised approach to risk management, whereby all employees take ownership
and accountability for risks at their respective levels. The process of risk management and treatment is
overseen by the Heads of Department.

A working group, the Risk Management Working Committee (“RMWC”), was established in 2002 to provide
risk management support to Management for the Group as a whole. The role of the RMWC includes periodic
reporting of the status of risk mitigation actions, new risks identified and risks that have changed
characteristics. The RMWC comprising key persons from all departments, submits its reports to both the
Management and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the Board any significant changes
in the business and external environment which affect key risks.

During the year, the RMWC took part in a one-day workshop together with other middle and senior management
to review the key risks faced by the Group and their corresponding controls. In 2003, the RMWC has been
meeting, and will continue to meet at the least, on a bi-monthly basis.

During the year, the Group formalised the Risk Management Framework and Risk Management Policy,
which will continue to be reviewed periodically by the RMWC with objective feedback furnished to Management
and the Board through the Audit Committee. During 2002, the RMWC submitted a report to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the identified key risks faced by the Group and their corresponding controls.

• Risk Assessment

During the year, a major project to formally identify and assess key risks and corresponding controls with the
assistance of an external consultant was carried out. The key risks and controls specific to the Group were
categorised as follows :-

• Strategic, which are risks that affect the overall direction of the business
• Operational, which are risks that impact the delivery of the Group’s products and services
• Financial, which are risks associated with financial processes and reporting
• Knowledge, which are risks associated with intellectual property and information resources

The identified risks were prioritised according to the degree of impact and likelihood of occurrence. Existing
corresponding controls were assessed for adequacy, taking into account the level of risk involved and where
necessary and feasible, additional controls were identified for implementation.

The Group maintains a database of key risks together with their corresponding controls.
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Internal Control System

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below :-

• Control Environment

The importance of a proper control environment is emphasised throughout the organisation. Focus is directed
towards the quality and abilities of the Group’s employees with continuing education and training to enhance
the skills of employees and reinforce qualities of professionalism and integrity. Such training also includes
internal briefings and external seminars for selected employees to enhance the level of awareness and
knowledge on matters relating to risk management and internal controls.

• Control Structure

The Board and Management have established an organisation structure with clearly defined lines of
accountability and delegated authority. This includes well-defined responsibilities of Board committees and
various management levels, including authorisation levels for all aspects of the business.

The key elements of the Group’s control structure are as follows:

Management

• Management has introduced well-established standard operating procedures that cover all key aspects
of the Group’s various business processes. These policies and procedures deal with, amongst others,
control issues for financial accounting and reporting, treasury management, asset security, information
technology, health and safety, etc. The procedures are subject to regular reviews to cater for process
changes, changing risks or further improvements.

• Aside from the standard operating procedures, changes in internal control procedures are also
communicated via circulars and internal memos. Such circulars and memos are properly authorized by
the relevant members of senior management.

• Regular visits by the head office personnel to branch depots.

• Regular meetings with the heads of sections/sales areas  which provide a sound platform for the members
of the sections/sales areas to communicate with and provide feedback to Management.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which independently carries out its functions and provides the Audit
Committee and the Board with the assurance on the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls.

The Internal Audit Department reports to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

The Audit Committee Report set out on pages 38 to 42 of this Annual Report contains further details on the
principal responsibilities and activities of the Internal Audit Department in 2002.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, regularly reviews the measures undertaken on internal control
issues identified by the RMWC, Internal Audit, external auditors and Management. During the year, 46 reports
were issued by the Internal Audit Department to the Audit Committee for their review.

The Audit Committee Report set out on pages 38 to 42 of this Annual Report contains further details on the
activities undertaken by the Audit Committee in 2002.
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Board

The Board holds regular discussions with the Audit Committee, Management, Internal Audit Department and
external auditors and considers their reports on matters relating to internal controls and deliberates on their
recommendations for implementation.

• Reporting and Information

Business plans are prepared by Management, which form the basis for detailed budgets, which are prepared
by business operating units and reviewed and approved by Management and the Board.

The monitoring of results against budget is conducted every quarter, with major variances followed up and
management action taken, where necessary. Management also ensures that it has the knowledge of key
market information in respect of the Group’s products and takes pro-active measures as appropriate in the
best interests of the Group.

Regular and comprehensive information is provided to Management, covering financial performance and
key business indicators, key operating statistics/indicators, key business risks, legal, environmental and
regulatory matters. Weekly meetings attended by Management, which includes the Executive Chairman/
Managing Director, are held to discuss the various aspects of the financial and operational performance of
the Group. Key matters affecting the Group are brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and are
reported to the Board on a regular basis.

• Monitoring and Review

There are processes for monitoring the system of internal controls and reporting any significant weaknesses
together with details of corrective action.

The system is subject to ongoing review by the Board, Audit Committee, Management, Finance Department
and Internal Audit Department. Responsibility for monitoring compliance with policies, procedures and
guidelines rests principally with the Internal Audit Department, which reports directly to the Audit Committee
as described above. Heads of Department are also actively involved in continually improving the control
processes within their respective departments.

During the year, the Group had engaged external consultants to conduct a detailed study of the internal
controls within its key business processes. Various initiatives had been identified to further enhance the
overall internal control system. Responsibilities and timeframe for implementation of such initiatives were
outlined with the status reviewed on a regular basis.

Review of Effectiveness

The Directors have taken the necessary steps to ensure that appropriate systems are in place for the assets of
the Group to be adequately safeguarded through the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities
and material misstatements.

The Directors believe that the system of internal controls is considered appropriate to business operations, and
that the risks taken are at an acceptable level within the context of the business environment of the Group.

During the year, a number of improvements to internal controls were identified and addressed. There have been
no significant weaknesses noted which have resulted in any material losses.

This Statement on Internal Control does not deal with the associated company as the Group does not have
management control over its operations. However, during the year the associated company of the Group had
also undertaken a Risk Assessment project through an external consultant. The detailed report on the key risks
identified and their corresponding controls was submitted to the Group for review.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 20 February 2003.



Audit Committee Report

Membership No. of meetings attended

Chan Hua Eng 4/4
(Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director)

Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali bin Dato’ Mohd. Seth 4/4
(Member/Independent Non-Executive Director)

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni Tuanku Ja’afar 2/4
(Member/Independent Non-Executive Director)

Dato’ Jorgen Bornhoft 4/4
(Member/Executive Chairman*)

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

The Audit Committee had 4 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2002. The members of the Audit Committee
and the record of their attendance are as follows :-

Note*: Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft, who was previously the Managing Director, was appointed as Executive
Chairman on 18.11.2002. On 1.4.2003, he stepped down as Executive Chairman but remains as
Chairman.

The Heads of the Finance and Internal Audit Departments were invited to attend the meetings for the purpose of
briefing the Audit Committee on the activities involving their areas of responsibilities. The Audit Committee was
also briefed by the external auditor on the findings of the external audit.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

• Terms of membership

1. The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board from amongst their number and shall consist of

not less than 3 members with the majority being Independent Directors.

2. The members of the Audit Committee shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number who shall be an
Independent Non-Executive Director.

3. At least 1 member of the Audit Committee must be or have the following :-

• a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or
• at least 3 years' working experience and have passed the examinations specified in Part 1 of the 1st

Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967 or be a member of one of the associations of accountants
specified in Part II of the 1st Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

• a degree/masters/doctorate in accounting or finance with at least 3 years' post qualification
experience in accounting or finance; or

• at least 7 years' experience being a chief financial officer of a corporation or having the function of
being primarily responsible for the management of the financial affairs of a corporation.
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4. In the event of any vacancy in the Audit Committee, the Board shall within 3 months of that event,
appoint such new members to make up the minimum number of 3 members.

5. No alternate director can be appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

6. The term of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members shall be reviewed

by the Board at least once in every 3 years.

• Authority

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to perform the following :-

1. To investigate any matter within its terms of reference. It shall have full and unrestricted access to any

information pertaining to the Group, both the internal and external auditors and to all employees of the
Group. It shall have the resources required to perform its duties.

2. To obtain external legal or other professional advice and secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience to attend, if necessary.

3. To promptly report to the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange, any matter reported by it to the Board which
has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the KLSE Listing Requirements.

• Functions

The functions of the Audit Committee shall be :

1. to review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors :-
(a) with the external auditor, the audit plan;

(b) with the external auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;
(c) with the external auditor, his audit report, including his management letter and management's

response;
(d) with the external auditor, any other matter he may wish to discuss (in the absence of management

where necessary);
(e) the assistance given by the Company's officers to the external auditor;

(f) the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the internal audit function and that it has the
necessary authority to carry out its work;

(g) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of

the internal audit function;
(h) any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;

(i) any appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function;
(j) any resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an

opportunity to submit his reasons for resigning;
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Audit Committe Report (contd.)

(k) the quarterly results and year end financial statements of the Company and of the Group, prior to
the approval by the Board, focusing particularly on :-

(i) changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes;
(ii) significant and unusual events;

(iii) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
(iv) significant adjustments arising from the audit;

(v) going concern assumption;
(l) any related party transaction and/or conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company

or Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of
management integrity;

(m) any major findings of internal investigations and management's response;
(n) the quarterly reports relating to Risk Assessment and the effectiveness and appropriateness of the

Risk Management Framework; and

2. to recommend and consider the nomination and appointment of a person or persons as external auditors,

the audit fees and any questions of resignation or dismissal; and

3. to consider any other functions as may be agreed to by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

• Meetings

1. Meetings shall be held not less than 4 times a year.

2. The quorum for each meeting shall be two independent Members of the Audit Committee.

3. The Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor shall normally attend
meetings. Other Board members and employees may attend meetings only upon the invitation of the

Audit Committee.

4. At least once a year, the Audit Committee shall meet with the external auditor without executive board
members present. The external auditor may also request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

5. The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Audit Committee.

• Reporting Procedures

The Secretary shall circulate the minutes of meetings of the Audit Committee to all members of the Board.
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

DURING THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

• Internal Audit Function

Carlsberg has an Internal Audit Department which principal responsibility is to undertake regular and systematic

reviews of the system of internal controls so as to provide reasonable assurance that such system continues to
operate effectively and efficiently.

In attaining such objectives, the following activities were carried out by the Internal Audit Department in 2002 :

1. ascertained the extent of compliance with established policies, procedures and statutory requirements;

2. carried out investigations and special reviews;

3. appraised the reliability and usefulness of the information developed within the Group for Management;

4. recommended improvements to the existing system of controls by way of issuing audit reports to the

appropriate level of management capable of achieving satisfactory results and ensured corrective
actions were taken;

5. assisted the various Departments within the Group in establishing revised "Guidelines on Internal

Controls" (written procedures) and ensured adherence to the same; and

6. identified opportunities to improve the operations of and processes within the Group.

• Summary of Activities of the Audit Committee

During the year ended 31 December 2002, the Audit Committee performed its duties as set out in its terms of
reference.

The main activities undertaken by the Audit Committee were as follows :-

• Reviewed the external auditors' scope of work and audit plans for the year.

• Reviewed the results of the external audit, the audit report and the management letter, including

Management's response.

• Considered and recommended to the Board for approval of the audit fees payable.

• Considered the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the services provided, including
non-audit services. Non-audit services totalling RM10,000 were payable to the external auditors during

the year for tax advisory services.
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• Reviewed the Internal Audit Department's resources requirements, programmes and plan for the year
under review and the annual assessment of the Department's performance.

• Reviewed the internal audit reports, recommendations and Management's response. Discussed actions

taken with Management to improve the internal controls system based on internal audit findings.

• Reviewed the Risk Management Framework and reports summarising the findings from work performed
on the identification and assessment of enterprise-wide key risks.

• Reviewed the annual report and audited financial statements of the Company and the Group prior to the

submission to the Board for their consideration and approval. The review was to ensure that the audited
financial statements were drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and

the applicable approved accounting standards approved by MASB.

• Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results announcements before recommending them for the
Board's approval. The review and discussions were conducted with the Chief Financial Officer.

• Reviewed the Company's compliance with the Listing Requirements of the KLSE, MASB and other

relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

• Reviewed pertinent issues of the Group which had a significant impact on the results of the Group which
included enhancement and further investment in existing products, cost rationalisation measures and

human resource development.

• Reviewed the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group.

• Reviewed the extent of the Group's compliance with the provisions set out under the Malaysian Code on
Corporate Governance for the purpose of the Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to the KLSE

Listing Requirements.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In the course of preparing the annual financial statement for the Group and the Company, the Directors are collectively

responsible for ensuring that these financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the requirements of the

applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia, the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Listing

Requirements of the KLSE.

It is the responsibility of the Directors to ensure that financial statements for each financial year present a true and fair

view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company at the end of the financial year and of the results and cash

flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2002, the Directors have applied

appropriate and relevant accounting policies consistently and in accordance with applicable accounting standards

and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and fair.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and the Directors have ensured that proper accounting

records are kept which enable the preparation of the financial statements with reasonable accuracy.

Responsibility Statement
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Ten-Year Financial Summary

* For 1998 and prior, figure are calculated based on 153 million ordinary shares. 1999 figures are based on weighted average
   number of shares issued during the year while 2000 and 2001 figures are based on number of shares net of treasury shares.
** 1999, 2000 and 2001 figures based on number of shares net of treasury shares.

FINANCIAL RAFINANCIAL RAFINANCIAL RAFINANCIAL RAFINANCIAL RATIOSTIOSTIOSTIOSTIOS

1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 20022002200220022002

Pre-Tax Earnings
per Share (RM)* 0.45 0.58 0.71 0.84 1.05 0.99 0.91 1.00 1.06 0.83

Post-Tax Earnings
per Share (RM)* 0.31 0.41 0.50 0.60 0.76 0.75 0.91 0.72 0.83 0.67

Net Dividend
per Ordinary Share (RM) 0.14 0.18 0.18 0.28 0.43 0.76 0.72 0.54 0.54 0.68

Net Assets Backing
per Share (RM)** 1.29 1.52 1.84 2.15 2.48 2.49 2.61 2.79 3.54 3.54

Dividend Cover,
No. of Times
(Based on post-tax earnings) 2.2 2.2 2.8 2.1 1.8 1.0 1.3 1.3 1.54 0.98

Return on Shareholders’
Funds (%) 24.1 26.8 27.4 27.8 30.5 30.1 34.8 25.9 23.5 18.9

Current Ratio 1.6 1.9 2.3 2.2 2.2 1.9 2.0 2.2 3.8 4.3

KLSE Price at
31 December (RM)
(After adjustment for all
bonus issues till 1997) 6.51 7.33 7.93 12.47 12.50 10.90 11.70 11.00 10.80 10.70

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (RM - MILLION)

1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 20022002200220022002

Revenue 407.0 461.3 525.5 609.6 685.9 707.8 771.4 852.0 841.1 838.8

Profit Before Tax 68.1 88.0 108.1 129.0 160.0 151.9 137.9 152.2 161.7 126.8

Taxation 20.4 25.8 31.1 37.3 44.2 37.4 - 42.2 35.7 25.0

Profit After Tax 47.7 62.2 77.0 91.7 115.8 114.5 137.9 110.0 126.0 101.8

Transfer from
Revenue Reserves - - - - - 1.2 - - - -

47.7 62.2 77.0 91.7 115.8 115.7 137.9 110.0 126.0 101.8

Dividends 21.9 27.8 28.0 43.4 65.8 115.7 109.3 82.0 82.0 103.6

Retained Earnings 25.8 34.4 49.0 48.3 50.0 0.0 28.6 28.0 44.0 (1.8)

BALANCE SHEETS BALANCE SHEETS BALANCE SHEETS BALANCE SHEETS BALANCE SHEETS (RM - MILLION)

1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 20022002200220022002

Issued and Paid-up
Share Capital 81.6 102.0 102.0 102.0 153.0 153.0 153.0 153.0 153.0 153.7

Retained Earnings 100.0 114.0 163.0 211.4 210.3 209.1 237.7 265.8 380.8 379.0

Treasury Shares - - - - - - - (12.0) (12.0) (12.0)

General Reserves 5.8 5.5 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8

Non-Distributable Reserves 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 13.0 11.9 11.4 9.3 13.3

Shareholders’ Funds 197.9 232.3 281.3 329.7 379.6 380.9 396.4 424.0 536.9 539.8

Deferred Taxation 9.8 10.8 10.8 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.8 14.0 14.4

207.7 243.1 292.1 341.7 391.6 392.9 408.4 436.8 550.9 554.2

Property, Plant and
Equipment (Net Book Value) 153.9 144.6 144.6 158.9 157.8 176.4 200.9 195.5 211.6 200.8

Investment in
Associated Company - - - 11.0 11.0 14.1 13.3 13.4 8.3 13.6

Long Term Investment - - - - - 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7

Net Current Assets 53.8 98.5 147.5 171.8 222.8 200.7 192.5 226.2 329.3 338.1

207.7 243.1 292.1 341.7 391.6 392.9 408.4 436.8 550.9 554.2
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Financial Highlights

1998
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2002.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group and the Company are the production of beer, stout, shandy and non-alcoholic
beverages for distribution in the home market and for export. There have been no significant changes in the nature of
the principal activities during the financial year.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

GROUP COMPANY

RM '000 RM '000

Operating profit 124,660 83,456
Dividend from subsidiary - 108,900
Share of results of associated company 2,170 -

Profit before taxation 126,830 192,356
Taxation (24,979) (45,000)

Profit for the year after taxation 101,851 147,356

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year, other than as disclosed in
the Statements of Changes in Equity.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year
have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

HOLDING COMPANY

The directors consider Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd, a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, as the holding and
ultimate holding company. Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd is a joint venture company whose ultimate owners are Carlsberg
Breweries A/S, a company incorporated in Denmark, and Chang Beverages Pte Ltd, a company incorporated in Thailand.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends paid by the Company since 31 December 2001 were as follows:
GROUP/COMPANY

RM '000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2001:

A final dividend of 15 sen per share less tax 16,453

A special dividend of 50 sen per share, tax exempt 76,171

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2002:

An interim dividend of 10 sen per share less tax 10,980

103,604
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DIVIDENDS (contd.)

The directors propose the payment of the following final dividends in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2002:

(a) a final dividend of 15 sen per share less tax, amounting to RM16,475,400; and

(b) a special dividend of 50 sen per share, tax exempt, amounting to RM76,275,000.

The amounts stated in respect of proposed dividends have been calculated based on the number of shares entitled to
such dividends at the latest practicable date, inclusive of 31,000 shares issued pursuant to options exercised subsequent
to the balance sheet date.

EMPLOYEES' SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 23 April 1998, the shareholders of the Company approved the establishment
of an Employees' Share Option Scheme ("the Scheme") for eligible employees of the Group. The Securities Commission,
the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange and the  (then) Registrar of Companies approved the Scheme on 19 June 1998, 30
September 1998 and 26 October 1998 respectively.

The main features of the Scheme are as follows:

(a) Eligible employees are those employees and full-time executive directors of the Group who are confirmed and with
at least twelve calendar months of continuous service in the Group prior to the Date of Offer.

(b) The aggregate number of new shares to be issued under the Scheme shall not exceed three per cent of the issued
and paid-up share capital of the Company.

(c) The Scheme shall continue to be in force for a duration of five years from 26 October 1998.

(d) The Scheme shall be administered by the ESOS Committee consisting of such persons as shall be appointed by the
Board of Directors from time to time.

(e) Options shall be granted in multiples of 1,000 shares and no option shall be granted for less than 1,000 shares or
more than 100,000 shares to any individual employee.

(f) Options granted can only be exercised at any time after the third anniversary of the Scheme until the Scheme
expires.

(g) The Option Price shall be the average of the mean open market quotations (calculated at the average of the highest
and lowest prices as traded on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE) for the day) of the shares as shown in the
daily official list issued by the KLSE for the five market days immediately preceding the Date of Offer, and in no
event be less than the par value of the shares.

(h) The new shares to be allotted upon exercise of any of the options will upon allotment rank pari passu in all respects
with the then existing issued shares of the Company except for dividends or distributions the entitlement date of
which is prior to the date of exercise of the option, and will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of
Association of the Company relating to transfer, transmission and otherwise.
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EMPLOYEES' SHARE OPTION SCHEME (contd.)

Pursuant to the Scheme, as of 31 December 2002, options to subscribe for 1,265,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
in the Company had been granted to eligible employees of the Group. Of this total, an alternate director had been
granted options to subscribe for 27,000 ordinary shares at RM8.09 per share.

As of 31 December 2002, 684,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each had been issued at RM8.09 per share for cash,
upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the Scheme, of which 20,000 ordinary shares were issued to the
alternate director.

Subsequent to 31 December 2002 and as of 14 March 2003 a further 31,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each had
been issued at RM8.09 per share for cash, upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the Scheme. 7,000
ordinary shares had been issued to an alternate director during the period subsequent to 31 December 2002 and
up to 14 March 2003.

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft (Executive Chairman)
Chan Hua Eng
Jen. (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd. Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd. Seth
Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni Tuanku Ja'afar
Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin
Mogens Thomsen
Chin Voon Loong (Alternate director for Mogens Thomsen)
Paul Bergqvist (Appointed on 18.11.02)
Michael Iuul (Resigned on 18.11.02)

DIRECTORS' BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the
Company was a party, whereby directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, other than benefits which might arise from the options to subscribe for
ordinary shares in the Company granted pursuant to the Employees' Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

The following directors who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register required to be kept
under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, interests in shares in the Company:

Acquired Disposed

Direct interest in the Company At 1.1.2002 during the year At 31.12.2002

Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni
Tuanku Ja'afar 1,000 -  (1,000) -

Chin Voon Loong - 20,000  - 20,000

At date of Acquired Disposed

Indirect interest in the Company appointment during the year At 31.12.2002

Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin 4,000 - - 4,000
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (contd.)

Options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares

of RM1.00 each of the Company At 1.1.2002 Granted Exercised At 31.12.2002

Chin Voon Loong 27,000 -  (20,000) 7,000

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive any benefits (other
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors shown
in the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by
the Company or a related corporation with any director or with  a firm of which the director is a member or with a
company in which the director has a substantial financial interest required to be disclosed by Section 169(8) of the
Companies Act, 1965.

In accordance with Section 129(2) of the Companies Act, 1965, Mr. Chan Hua Eng and Jen. (B) Tan Sri Dato'
Mohd. Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd. Seth retire having attained the age of seventy.  The Board recommends that they
be re-appointed in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Act.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the financial year, the issued and paid-up capital of the Company was increased from 153,010,000 ordinary
shares of RM1.00 each to 153,684,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each following the issue of 674,000 shares of
RM1.00 each at RM8.09 per share pursuant to the Employees' Share Option Scheme. The share premium arising from
this issue amounted to RM4,778,660.

As at 31 December 2002, there were 396,000 unissued shares under options pursuant to the Employees' Share
Option Scheme.

SHARE REPURCHASE

Pursuant to the authority granted by an ordinary resolution passed in the Annual General Meeting held on 29 April
1999, the Company had, during the financial year ended 31 December 1999, repurchased 1,165,000 ordinary
shares of RM1.00 each through the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange, for an aggregate consideration of RM12,042,622,
representing an average price of RM10.34 per share.  The lowest and highest prices paid for each share were RM9.75
and RM10.60 respectively.  The repurchase of shares was financed by internally generated funds.

The shares repurchased are being retained as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies Act,
1965.  During the financial year, no additional shares were repurchased and none of the shares previously repurchased
were reissued or distributed as share dividends.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company is involved in the following pending litigation matters:

(a) On 30 April 1999, a Statement of Claim was filed in court by Asia Pacific Breweries Limited/Guinness Anchor
Berhad against the Company over an advertisement that appeared in certain newspapers. The Company had filed
its Statement of Defence and the case is still pending trial.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION (contd.)

The solicitors have advised that the Company’s prospects of successfully defending the suit are good and any
damages arising would occur only in the event of a finding against the Company on liability. The solicitors have
advised that they are unable to make an estimate for any damages arising as the outcome of the case and damages
arising, if any, are within the discretion of the Court.

(b) On 12 October 1999, the Company filed a Statement of Claim against Guinness Anchor Berhad in respect of their
advertisements in the newspapers and other media associating Heineken with the World Cup Golf tournament
which was held in Malaysia on 18 to 21 November 1999. The Company had obtained an inter-parte injunction
against Guinness Anchor Berhad restraining such advertisements for the duration of the tournament. The case is
still pending.

The solicitors have advised that the Company is well positioned to prove liability, damages and other remedies
against the defendant at trial. However, the potential financial outcome arising from the suit is not possible to
estimate at this time.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a) Before the income statements and balance sheets of the Company and of the Group were made out, the directors
took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of
provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that  all  known bad debts had been written off and that
adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records
in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to
realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report
or financial statements of the Company and of the Group which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the Company and the
Group inadequate to any substantial extent;

(ii) the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Company and of the Group misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render
adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company and of the Group  misleading
or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report
or financial statements of the Company and of the Group which would render any amount stated in the financial
statements misleading.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (contd.)

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Company or of the Group which has arisen since the end of the financial year
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liabilities in respect of the Company or of the Group which have arisen since the end of the
financial year.

(f) In the opinion of the directors:

(i) no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Company
and of the Group to meet their obligations as and when they fall due;

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of
the Company or of the Group for the financial year in which this report is made.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board
in accordance with a resolution
of the Directors,

CHAN HUA ENG

DIRECTOR

DATO' JORGEN BORNHOFT

DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
19 March 2003
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We, CHAN HUA ENG and DATO' JORGEN BORNHOFT, being two of the directors of CARLSBERG BREWERY

MALAYSIA BERHAD, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set
out on pages 56 to 85 are drawn up in accordance with applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia and
the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of:

(i) the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2002 and of the results of the business
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended on that date;

(ii) the cash flows of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2002.

Signed on behalf of the Board
in accordance with a resolution
of the Directors

CHAN HUA ENG

DIRECTOR

DATO' JORGEN BORNHOFT

DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
19 March 2003

Statement By Directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, CHIN VOON LOONG, being the person primarily responsible for the financial management of CARLSBERG BREWERY

MALAYSIA BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages
56 to 85 are in my opinion correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true,
and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed CHIN VOON LOONG

at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory
on 19 March 2003

CHIN VOON LOONG

Before me,

MOHD. RADZI BIN YASIN
(No. W327)
Commissioner for Oaths

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
19 March 2003

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 56 to 85. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable Approved Standards on Auditing in Malaysia. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion:-

(a) the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and
applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of :

(i) the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2002 and of the results and the
cash flows of the Company and of the Group for the year then ended; and

(ii) the matters required by Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 to be dealt with in the financial statements
and consolidated financial statements.

(b) the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by its
subsidiaries have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements
of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

The Auditors' Reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and did not
include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG AF: 0039

Chartered Accountants

Sukanta Kumar Dutt 1556/08/04(J)

Partner

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
19 March 2003

Auditors' Report
to the members of Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad
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Income Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2002

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Note RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

As restated

REVENUE 3 838,783 841,113 526,485 527,343

COST OF SALES 4 (592,562) (538,938) (442,447) (431,683)

GROSS PROFIT 246,221 302,175 84,038 95,660

Other operating income 10,235 12,282 9,151 9,026
Sales & distribution costs (114,363) (124,667) (122) (253)
Administrative expenses (16,637) (17,485) (8,515) (10,998)
Other operating expenses (796) (12,365) (1,096) (12,374)

OPERATING PROFIT 124,660 159,940 83,456 81,061

DIVIDEND FROM

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY - - 108,900 99,000
SHARE OF RESULTS OF

ASSOCIATED COMPANY 2,170 1,730 - -

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 126,830 161,670 192,356 180,061

TAXATION 8 (24,979) (35,700) (45,000) (48,920)

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 101,851 125,970 147,356 131,141

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 1 0
- pre tax (sen) 83 .3 106.5 126.3 118.6
- post tax (sen) 66 .9 83 .0 96 .8 86 .4

FULLY DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 1 0
- pre tax (sen) 83 .2 106.3 126.2 118.4
- post tax (sen) 66 .8 82 .8 96 .7 86 .2

The annexed notes from an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2002

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Note RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

As restated As restated

ASSETS EMPLOYED:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 200,818 211,591 183,165 188,522
SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 12 - - 1,909 1,909
ASSOCIATED COMPANY 13 13,570 8,341 10,940 6,340
MARKETABLE SECURITIES 14 1,733 1,733 1,733 1,733

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 15 28,600 41,018 17,774 17,428
Trade Receivables 16 125,796 101,537 - -
Other Receivables 17 18,278 17,570 33,203 11,505
Bank balances and deposits 18 266,948 288,671 252,946 266,947

439,622 448,796 303,923 295,880

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade Payables 19 36,430 48,867 31,281 41,083
Other Payables 20 56,218 40,165 28,029 49,948
Taxation 8,930 30,498 9,522 20,070

101,578 119,530 68,832 111,101

NET CURRENT ASSETS 338,044 329,266 235,091 184,779

554,165 550,931 432,838 383,283

FINANCED BY:

SHARE CAPITAL 21 153,684 153,010 153,684 153,010

RESERVES 22 398,140 395,930 276,813 228,282

551,824 548,940 430,497 381,292

TREASURY SHARES 23 (12,043) (12,043) (12,043) (12,043)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  539,781  536,897  418,454  369,249

DEFERRED TAXATION 24  14,384  14,034  14,384  14,034

 554,165  550,931  432,838  383,283
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Statement Of Changes In Equity Of The Group
for the year ended 31 December 2002

Share Share Exchange Capital Treasury General Retained

capital premium reserve reserve shares reserve earnings Total

GROUP Note RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000

At 1 January 2001

As previously 153,000  -  908  10,524  (12,043)  5,766  265,771  423,926

reported

Prior period [Notes 2(a),

adjustment 2(d) and 9]  -  -  -  -  - -  71,059  71,059

As restated  153,000  -  908  10,524  (12,043)  5,766  336,830 494,985

Exchange differences  -  - (2,148)  -  - -  - (2,148)

Issue of ordinary shares

pursuant to Employees’

Share Option Scheme  10  71  -  -  - -  - 81

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  - -  125,970 125,970

Dividends

As previously  -  -  -  -  -  -  (103,410)  (103,410)

reported

Prior period [Notes 2(a),

adjustment 2(d) and 9]  -  -  -  -  -  -  21,419  21,419

As restated 9  -  -  -  -  -  -  (81,991)  (81,991)

At 31 December 2001 153,010 71 (1,240) 10,524 (12,043) 5,766 380,809 536,897

Exchange differences  -  - (816)  -  -  -  - (816)

Issue of ordinary shares

pursuant to Employees’

Share Option Scheme 674 4,779  -  -  -  -  - 5,453

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  101,851 101,851

Dividends 9  -  -  -  -  -  - (103,604)  (103,604)

At 31 December 2002 153,684 4,850  (2,056)  10,524  (12,043) 5,766 379,056 539,781

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement Of Changes In Equity Of The Company
for the year ended 31 December 2002

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Share Share Capital Treasury General Retained

capital premium reserve shares reserve earnings Total

COMPANY Note RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000 RM ‘000

At 1 January 2001
As previously reported 153,000  -  6,593  (12,043)  5,766  166,923  320,239
Prior period adjustment [Notes 2(a),

2(d) and 9]  -  -  -  -  -  (221)  (221)

As restated  153,000  -  6,593  (12,043)  5,766  166,702 320,018

Issue of ordinary shares
pursuant to Employees’
Share Option Scheme 10 71  -  -  -  - 81

Profit for the year
As previously reported  -  -  -  -  -  138,269  138,269
Prior period adjustment [Notes 2(a),

2(d) and 9]  -  -  -  -  -  (7,128)  (7,128)
As restated  -  -  -  -  -  131,141 131,141

Dividends
As previously reported  -  -  -  -  -  (103,410)  (103,410)
Prior period adjustment [Notes 2(a),

2(d) and 9]  -  -  -  -  -  21,419  21,419
As restated 9  -  -  -  -  -  (81,991)  (81,991)

At 31 December 2001 153,010 71 6,593  (12,043) 5,766 215,852 369,249

Issue of ordinary shares
pursuant to Employees’
Share Option Scheme 674 4,779  -  -  -  - 5,453

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  147,356 147,356

Dividends 9  -  -  -  -  - (103,604)  (103,604)

At 31 December 2002 153,684 4,850 6,593  (12,043) 5,766 259,604 418,454
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Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows Of The Group
for the year ended 31 December 2002

2002 2001

RM '000 RM '000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 126,830 161,670

Adjustments for:
Interest income (7,859) (8,796)
Dividend income (50) (50)
Share of profit of associated company (2,170) (1,730)
(Write-back) / provision for diminution in value of

investment in associated company (4,600) 4,600
Depreciation 27,754 27,952
(Write-back) / provision of doubtful debts (2,173) 4,172
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,299) (3,436)

Operating profit before working capital changes 135,433 184,382

Working capital changes:
Receivables (22,794) (574)
Inventories 12,418 6,165
Payables 3,616 (6,385)

Cash generated from operations 128,673 183,588

Taxation paid (46,197) (30,384)

Net cash generated from operating activities 82,476 153,204

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 7,859 8,796
Dividend income - associated company  725  -

- others 50 50
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,224 3,516
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20,906) (44,152)

Net cash used in investing activities (6,048) (31,790)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of share options 5,453 81
Dividends paid (103,604) (81,991)

Net cash used in financing activities (98,151) (81,910)

NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (21,723) 39,504

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 288,671 249,167

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 18 266,948 288,671

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000

As restated

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 192,356 180,061

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 22,503 22,738
Interest income (7,360) (8,122)
Dividend income  (109,675)  (99,050)
(Write-back) / provision for diminution in value of

investment in associated company (4,600) 4,600
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (236) (674)

Operating profit before working capital changes 92,988 99,553

Working capital changes:
Receivables (21,698) (575)
Inventories (346) 1,523
Payables (31,721) (8,867)

Cash generated from operations 39,223 91,634

Taxation paid (24,706) (14,304)

Net cash generated from operating activities 14,517 77,330

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 7,360 8,122
Dividend income - subsidiary company 78,408 71,280

- associated company 7 2 5  -
- others 5 0 5 0

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 5 7 6 8 0
Transfer of property, plant and equipment to a subsidiary company 7 6  -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (17,243) (35,233)

Net cash generated from investing activities 69,633 44,899

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of share options 5,453 8 1
Dividends paid (103,604) (81,991)

Net cash used in financing activities (98,151) (81,910)

NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (14,001) 40,319

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 266,947 226,628

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1 8 252,946 266,947

Statement Of Cash Flows Of The Company
for the year ended 31 December 2002

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes To The Financial Statements

1 . CORPORATE INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Group and the Company are the production of beer, stout, shandy and non-alcoholic
beverages for distribution in the home market and for export. There have been no significant changes in the nature
of the principal activities during the financial year.

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the
Main Board of the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is located at No. 55,
Persiaran Selangor, Section 15, 40200 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

The directors consider Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd, a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, as the holding
and ultimate holding company. Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd is a joint venture company whose ultimate owners are
Carlsberg Breweries A/S, a company incorporated in Denmark, and Chang Beverages Pte Ltd, a company incorporated
in Thailand.

The numbers of employees in the Group and in the Company (including executive directors) at the end of financial
year were 637 (2001: 662) and 292 (2001: 315) respectively.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the
directors on 13 March 2003.

2 . SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements, and Changes in Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the Company and of the Group are prepared under the historical cost convention
modified to include the revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment, and comply with applicable
Approved Accounting Standards issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB). The Company
and the Group have applied certain transitional provisions as allowed under MASB Standard No.15, 'Property,
Plant and Equipment', by virtue of which a reporting enterprise is allowed to retain revalued amounts on the
basis of previous revaluations (subject to continuity in depreciation policy and the requirement to write an
asset down to its recoverable amount), if it does not further revalue such assets.

In the preparation of the financial statements, the Company and the Group have adopted the following Approved
Accounting Standards that became applicable during the year:

MASB Standard No.19, 'Events After the Balance Sheet Date'
MASB Standard No.20, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'
MASB Standard No.22, 'Segment Reporting'
MASB Standard No.23, 'Impairment of Assets'
MASB Standard No.24, 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation'

Other than additional requirements for presentation and disclosure, the accounting effects arising are as disclosed
in the Statements of Changes in Equity, as prior period adjustments.

The effects are summarised as follows:

(i) liability previously recognised for dividends proposed but not yet approved as of the balance sheet date,
of RM92,478,000 as at 31 December 2001, has been extinguished from the comparative income
statement and comparative balance sheet as at that date.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)

(a) Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements, and Changes in Accounting Policies (contd.)

(ii) the dividends proposed and subsequently approved for payment have been shown as distribution in the
year that they were so approved, and based on amounts actually paid, i.e. including amounts paid on
shares issued upon the exercise of options, based on their entitlements. Accordingly, the Statements of
Changes in Equity show dividends paid in the comparative period, and retained earnings as at 1 January
2001 and 31 December 2001 adjusted for the period in which the respective dividends became payable.

(iii) consequent upon the change in accounting policy affecting when a liability proposed dividends is to be
recognised, the Company's recognition of dividend income has been changed to exclude the recognition
of dividends proposed by subsidiaries subsequent to the balance sheet date.

Accordingly, the Company's income statement has been incorporated for the following effects:

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000

Dividends from subsidiary

Previously recognised in 2001 (2000)
adjusted and recognised in 2002 (2001) 108,900 99,000

Tax thereon  (30,492)  (27,720)

Net effect 78,408 71,280

As a result, the after-tax effect on the comparative income statement of the Company, i.e. for the 2001
financial year, has been a reduction of RM7.128 million.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary
companies for the year to 31 December. The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment, and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost modified by the revaluation of certain land and buildings, less
accumulated depreciation and amortisation.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Leasehold land is depreciated over the periods of the leases ranging from 43 to 99 years.

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated on the original cost or subsequent valuation
of property, plant and equipment and is charged on a straight line basis at varying rates to write off assets over
their estimated economic lives. The principal annual depreciation rates applied are as follows:

Buildings - 2 %
Plant and machinery - at rates varying from 5% to 20%
Furniture and equipment - 2 0 %
Motor vehicles - 2 0 %
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment, and Depreciation (contd.)

Upon the disposal of an item of property, plant or equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the net carrying amount is charged or credited to the income statement and any attributable portion of the
revaluation surplus is taken directly to retained profits.

(d) Dividends - prior period adjustment

In previous financial years, dividends proposed by the directors at the time of adoption of the financial
statements were accrued as a liability as of the balance sheet date. However, MASB Standard No.19, 'Events
After the Balance Sheet Date', does not allow recognition of proposed dividends as a liability until such time
the obligation to pay is established.

MASB Standard No.19 becomes operative for financial statements covering financial periods beginning or
after 1 July 2001.

Dividends from long term investments, and in respect of the Company, from subsidiary and associated
companies, are therefore now recognised in the income statement upon the right to receipt of such dividends
being established.

The effects of adoption of MASB Standard No.19 on proposed dividends are set out in the Statements of
Changes in Equity and in Note 2(a) to the financial statements.

(e) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average
basis. Cost includes the actual cost of materials and incidentals in bringing the inventories into store, and for
finished goods and work-in-progress, also includes labour and attributable production overheads. In arriving at
net realisable value, due allowance is made for all obsolete and slow moving items.

(f) Provision for Doubtful Debts

Known bad debts are written off and provisions are made for debts, individually reviewed by customer
accounts or categories and identified as doubtful.

(g) Foreign Currencies

Transactions in Foreign Currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the respective
transactions and where settlement has not taken place at the balance sheet date, the balances are translated at
approximate rates then prevailing. Exchange differences arising are taken to the income statement.

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements
The Group's share of net assets and results of foreign associated companies are translated at rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. The translation differences arising are taken to Exchange Reserve.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)

(g) Foreign Currencies (contd.)

The principal exchange rates used for every unit of foreign currency ruling at the balance sheet date are as
follows:

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM RM

Danish Kroner (DKK) 0.534 0.452
Euro Dollar (EUR) 3.039 3.360
United States Dollar (USD) 3.800 3.800
Singapore Dollar (SGD) 2.127 2.059
Sri Lanka Rupee (RS) 0.038 0.041

(h) Revenue recognition

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to
the buyer.

(ii) Interest and rental income

Interest income and rental income are recognised on an accrual basis.

(i) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits are paid to employees by way of contracted monthly contributions to the statutory Employees
Provident Fund over and above the minimum statutory contributions, or to an approved, separately funded
defined contribution scheme. Contributions are charged to the income statement as and when the obligations
arise.

(j) Deferred Taxation

Deferred taxation is provided for by the liability method on the difference between the net book value of assets
eligible for capital allowances and the tax written down value of those assets, and on other timing differences
existing at the balance sheet date expected to crystallise in the foreseeable future. No account is taken in
respect of timing differences giving rise to a deferred tax benefits that may be realised in the future.

(k) Subsidiary Companies

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has a long term equity interest and where it has power
to exercise control over the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits therefrom.

Subsidiaries are consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting. Under the acquisition method of
accounting, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
The assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition and these
values are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet. The difference between the cost of an acquisition and
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition is
included in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill or negative goodwill arising on consolidation.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)

(k) Subsidiary Companies (contd.)

Intragroup transactions, balances and resulting unrealised gains are eliminated on consolidation and the
consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions only. Unrealised losses are eliminated on
consolidation unless costs cannot be recovered.

Investments in subsidiary companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost unless, in
the opinion of the directors, there has been a permanent diminution in value, in which case an appropriate
provision is made.

(l) Associated Companies

An associated company is defined as a company, not being a subsidiary company, in which the Group has a
long term interest of not less than 20% of the equity and in whose financial and operating policy decisions the
Group exercises significant influence.

Investments in associated companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost unless, in
the opinion of the directors, there has been a permanent diminution in value, in which case an appropriate
provision is made. The Group equity accounts for its share of post-acquisition results and reserves of associated
companies.

(m) Long Term Investments

Long term investments are stated at cost unless in the opinion of the directors there has been a permanent
diminution in value, in which case provision is made for the diminution in value.

(n) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The statements of cash flow, prepared using the indirect method, classify changes in cash and cash equivalents
according to operating, investing and financing activities. For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, deposits with licensed financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are not
subject to significant risk of changes in value.

(o) Impairment of Assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits and financial assets which are reviewed pursuant to
the relevant accounting policies) to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, impairment is measured by comparing the carrying values of
the assets with their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and value in
use, which is measured by reference to discounted future cash flows. Recoverable amounts are estimated for
individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is charged to the income statement immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued
amount. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of any
available previously recognised revaluation surplus for the same asset.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)

(o) Impairment of Assets (contd.)

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the
impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased. The reversal is recognised to the
extent of the carrying amount of the asset that would have been determined (net of amortisation and depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised. The reversal is recognised in the income statement immediately,
unless the asset is carried at revalued amount. A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited
directly to revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was
previously recognised as an expense in the income statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
as income in the income statement.

(p) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has become a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are
reported as expense or income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged
directly to equity. Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(i) Marketable Securities

The Group does not own any marketable securities other than those held as long term investments.

(ii) Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. An
estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a review of outstanding amounts as at the balance sheet
date, 31 December, see Note 2(f).

(iii) Trade Payables

Trade payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for
goods and services received.

(iv) Equity Instruments

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The transaction costs of an equity transaction, other than in the
context of a business combination, are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax. Equity
transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction
which would otherwise have been avoided.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

When the share capital of the Company is repurchased, the consideration paid, including any attributable
transaction costs is presented as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares
and presented as a deduction from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the
sale, re-issuance or cancellation of treasury shares. Consideration received is presented in the financial
statements as a change in equity.
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3. REVENUE

Revenue represents the value of the gross sales of goods less returns, discounts and sales tax.

4 . COST OF SALES

Cost of sales represents cost of inventories sold.

5 . PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Note RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

As restated

This is stated after charging
/(crediting):-

Staff costs 6 34,269 34,859 19,745 20,144
Non-executive directors'

remuneration 7 2 0 8 2 0 8 2 0 8 2 0 8
Auditors' remuneration

- statutory audit 7 4 7 4 5 3 5 3
- other services 1 0 1 4 1 0 7

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 27,754 27,952 22,503 22,738

(Write-back) /provision for
doubtful debts  (2,173) 4,172 - -

Rent of land and buildings 3 3 3 3 7 3 - -
Staff retirement benefits 7 5 1 7 1 5 4 2 7 4 0 6
(Write-back) / provision for

diminution in value of investment
in associated company (4,600) 4,600 (4,600) 4,600

Dividend income from
- subsidiary company - - (108,900) (99,000)
- associated company - - (725) -
- marketable security (tax exempt)
- quoted in Malaysia (50) (50) (50) (50)

Rental income
- subsidiary company - - (780) (180)
- third parties (27) - - -

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (2,299) (3,436) (236) (674)

Interest income (7,859) (8,796) (7,360) (8,122)

6 . STAFF COSTS

Included in staff costs of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration amounting to RM1,485,000
(2001 : RM2,027,000) as further disclosed in Note 7.
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7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The aggregate remuneration of the Directors of the Company is as follows:

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Non- Non-

Executive executive Executive executive

directors directors directors directors

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Total remuneration:

Fees 3 7 2 0 8 3 5 2 0 8
Benefits-in-kind 1 4 8 - 3 2 5 -
Other emoluments 1,300 - 1,667 -

1,485 2 0 8 2,027 2 0 8

The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration fell within the respective ranges tabulated
below, were as follows:

Number of Directors

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Non- Non-

Executive executive Executive executive

directors directors directors directors

Range of Remuneration (RM)
Less than 50,000 - 7 - 6
400,001 - 450,000 1 - 1 -
500,001 - 550,000 - - 1 -
900,001 - 950,000 1 - - -
1,000,001-1,050,000 - - 1 -

2 7 3 6

8 . TAXATION

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

As restated

Malaysian taxation based on
results for the year 28,600 34,500 45,842 50,492

Transfer to deferred taxation 3 5 0 1,200 3 5 0 1,200

28,950 35,700 46,192 51,692

Tax effect of prior year [Notes
adjustment 2(d)(i)

and 9] - - -  (2,772)

28,950 35,700 46,192 48,920

Malaysian tax expenses of prior year  (3,971) -  (1,192) -

24,979 35,700 45,000 48,920

The effective tax rates of the Company and of the Group are lower than the statutory tax rate as the Company is
entitled to claim reinvestment allowances.
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9. DIVIDENDS

GROUP/COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 Sen per share RM '000 Sen per share

As restated

Interim dividend of 10 sen per share
less tax (2001: 10 sen per share
less tax) 10,980 7 .2 10,932 7 .2

Final dividends:

Approved in 2002 in respect of 2001
- final 15 sen per share less tax 16,453 10 .8 - -
- special 50 sen per share tax exempt 76,171 50 .0 - -

Approved in 2001 in respect of 2000
- final 15 sen per share less tax - - 16,398 10 .8
- special 50 sen per share less tax - - 54,661 36 .0

103,604 68 .0 81,991 54 .0

The following final dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2002 will be proposed for shareholder’s
approval at the forthcoming Annual Genaral Meeting:

(a) a final dividend of 15 sen per share less tax, amounting to RM16,475,400; and

(b) a special dividend of 50sen per share, tax exempt, amounting to RM76,275,000.

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if
approved by the shareholders will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits
in the financial year ending 31 December 2003.

In previous financial years, dividends proposed by the Directors subsequent to the balance sheet date and prior to
issue of the financial statements were accrued as a liability as of the balance sheet date. The Group has now
adopted the applicable recommendation in Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) Standard No. 19,
'Events After the Balance Sheet Date', by which such dividends proposed subsequent to the balance sheet date
have not been stated as a liability as of the balance sheet date. The effects of this change in accounting policy are
set out in Note 2(a) and 2(d) and the Statements of Changes in Equity.

10. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share of the Group has been computed by dividing the net profit before and after tax by
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the financial year. For the purposes of this computation,
the number of shares repurchased and held as treasury shares has been excluded from the number of
shares in issue.
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10. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE (contd.)

(a) Basic earnings per share (contd.)

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

As restated

Profit before taxation (RM '000) 126,830 161,670 192,356 180,061
Profit after taxation (RM '000) 101,851 125,970 147,356 131,141

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue ('000) 152,293 151,835 152,293 151,835

Basic earnings per share
- pre tax (sen) 83 .3 106.5 126.3 118.6
- post tax (sen) 66 .9 83 .0 96 .8 86 .4

(b) Diluted earnings per share

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted number of ordinary shares in issue has been adjusted to assume
conversion of all options on 1 January 2002 or the first date exercisable, whichever is later; the number of
shares repurchased and held as treasury shares has been excluded from the number of shares in issue.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for the effects of
dilutive options as described in the preceeding paragraph.

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

As restated

Profit before taxation (RM '000) 126,830 161,670 192,356 180,061
Profit after taxation (RM '000) 101,851 125,970 147,356 131,141

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue ('000) 152,293 151,835 152,293 151,835

Adjustment for share options ('000) 1 5 2 2 3 8 1 5 2 2 3 8

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for diluted
earnings per share ('000) 152,445 152,073 152,445 152,073

Diluted earnings per share
- pre tax (sen) 83.2 106.3 126.2 118.4
- post tax (sen) 66.8 82.8 96.7 86.2
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Long term Short term

Freehold leasehold leasehold Furniture, office

land and land and land and Plant and Motor equipment and Assets Total

buildings buildings buildings machinery vehicles others in-progress 2002 2001

GROUP RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

COST AND VALUATION

At 1 January 23,763 58,945 467 290,178 21,638 39,661 1,095 435,747 399,251

Additions  -  1,485  -  3,212  3,360  2,527  10,322 20,906 44,152

Transfers  -  2,113  -  9,235  -  69  (11,417)  -  -

Disposals  (4,418)  -  -  (295)  (3,829)  (984)  - (9,526) (7,656)

At 31 December 19,345 62,543 467 302,330 21,169 41,273  - 447,127 435,747

ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 927 14,062 68 169,432 9,591 30,076  - 224,156 203,780

Charge for the year  92  1,136  9  18,535  3,766  4,216  - 27,754 27,952

Disposals  (707)  -  -  (275)  (3,640)  (979)  - (5,601) (7,576)

At 31 December 312 15,198 77 187,692 9,717 33,313  - 246,309 224,156

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2002 19,033 47,345 390 114,638 11,452 7,960  -  200,818  -

At 31 December 2001 22,836 44,883 399 120,746 12,047 9,585 1,095  - 211,591

DEPRECIATION CHARGE

FOR 2001 95 983 10 19,332 3,394 4,138  -  - 27,952

ANALYSIS OF COST

AND VALUATION

At 31 December 2002

Cost  19,345  44,221  467  302,330  21,169  41,273  - 428,805  -

Valuation - 1981  -  18,322  -  -  -  -  - 18,322  -

19,345 62,543 467 302,330 21,169 41,273  - 447,127  -

At 31 December 2001

Cost 23,763 40,623 467 290,178 21,638 39,661 1,095  - 417,425

Valuation - 1981  - 18,322  -  -  -  -  -  - 18,322

23,763 58,945 467 290,178 21,638 39,661 1,095  - 435,747

Of the land and buildings of the Group, RM17,796,000 (2001: RM18,943,000) is in respect of the net book
value of the freehold land, RM9,215,000 (2001: RM9,341,000) is in respect of the net book value of the long
term leasehold land and RM141,000 (2001: RM145,000) is in respect of the net book value of short term
leasehold land.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (contd.)

Freehold Long term Furniture, office

land and leasehold land Plant and Motor equipment and Assets Total

buildings  and buildings machinery vehicles others in-progress 2002 2001

COMPANY RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

COST AND VALUATION

At 1 January 18,044 56,181 290,178 3,010 16,580 1,095 385,088 351,216

Additions  -  1,485  3,212  578  1,646  10,322 17,243 35,233

Transfers  -  2,113  9,235  (101)  78  (11,417)  (92)  -

Disposals  -  -  (295)  (375)  (693)  - (1,363) (1,361)

At 31 December 18,044 59,779 302,330 3,112 17,611  - 400,876 385,088

ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 123 13,623 169,432 1,046 12,342  - 196,566 175,183

Charge for the year  12  1,084  18,535  603  2,269  - 22,503 22,738

Transfers  -  -  -  (17)  1  - (16)  -

Disposals  -  -  (275)  (375)  (692)  - (1,342) (1,355)

At 31 December 135 14,707 187,692 1,257 13,920  - 217,711 196,566

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2002 17,909 45,072 114,638 1,855 3,691  - 183,165  -

At 31 December 2001 17,921 42,558 120,746 1,964 4,238 1,095  - 188,522

DEPRECIATION CHARGE

FOR 2001 11 933 19,332 473 1,989  -  - 22,738

ANALYSIS OF COST

AND VALUATION

At 31 December 2002

Cost 18,044 41,457 302,330 3,112 17,611  - 382,554  -

Valuation - 1981  -  18,322  -  -  -  - 18,322  -

18,044 59,779 302,330 3,112 17,611  - 400,876  -

At 31 December 2001

Cost 18,044 37,859 290,178 3,010 16,580 1,095  - 366,766

Valuation - 1981  - 18,322  -  -  -  -  - 18,322

18,044 56,181 290,178 3,010 16,580 1,095  - 385,088

Of the land and buildings of the Company, RM17,466,000 (2001: RM17,466,000) is in respect of the net book
value of the freehold land, RM8,638,000 (2001: RM8,756,000) is in respect of the net book value of the long
term leasehold land.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (contd.)

The leasehold land and buildings of the Group and of the Company were valued by the directors in 1981 based on
professional appraisals by an independent valuer using open market values. These assets have continued to be
stated on the basis of their 1981 valuations, as allowed by the MASB Standard No.15, 'Property, Plant and
Equipment'.

The aggregate net book value of property, plant and equipment, had all assets been stated based on their costs
would have been RM196,235,000 (2001: RM206,679,000) in respect of the Group and RM178,582,000
(2001: RM183,610,000) in respect of the Company.

The tax effects in respect of the surplus that arose upon revaluation of properties had not been accounted for in
view of there being no intention to dispose of these properties in the foreseeable future.

12 . SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000

Investment in subsidiary companies, at cost 1,909 1,909

The subsidiaries of the Company are:
 Percentage of equity

Country of  2002 2 0 0 1

Name Principal activity incorporation % %

Carlsberg Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Marketing and Malaysia 1 0 0 1 0 0
distribution
of beer, stout,
shandy and
non-alcoholic
beverages

Euro Distributors Sdn. Bhd. Dormant Malaysia 1 0 0 1 0 0

13 . ASSOCIATED COMPANY

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Investment in associated company
quoted outside Malaysia:

Group's share of net assets at acquisition 10,807 10,807
Premium on acquisition 1 3 3 1 3 3

Cost of investment 10,940 10,940 10,940 10,940
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13. ASSOCIATED COMPANY (contd.)

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Share of post-acquisition profits
and reserves brought forward 3,241 1,511 - -

Share of results for the year 2,170 1,730 - -
Dividends received  (725) - - -

Share of post-acquisition profits
and reserves carried forward 4,686 3,241 - -

Exchange difference on
translation of net assets (2,056) (1,240) - -

Provision for diminution - (4,600) - (4,600)

13,570 8,341 10,940 6,340

Represented by Group's share of :

Net tangible assets 13,437 8,341
Premium on acquisition 1 3 3 -

13,570 8,341

Market value as at 31 December 32,976 21,606 32,976 21,606

Details of the associated company are:
 Percentage of equity

Country of  2002 2 0 0 1

Name Principal activity incorporation % %

The Lion Brewery Ceylon Manufacturing, Sri Lanka 24 .6 24 .6
Limited marketing and

distribution
of beer, stout,
shandy and
non-alcoholic
beverages

In conjunction with the investment undertaken in The Lion Brewery Ceylon Limited, the directors entered into a call
option with the principal licensor, Carlsberg A/S, a company incorporated in Denmark, allowing Carlsberg A/S to
acquire the Company's interest in the associated company, should certain events occur. The purchase consideration
is to be based on an agreed formula and in any event to be a minimum of the original purchase price paid by the
Company. The directors of the Company consider the likelihood of occurrence of such events as remote.



76 CARLSBERG BREWERY MALAYSIA BERHAD

14. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

GROUP/COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000

Shares quoted in Malaysia, at cost 3,983 3,983
Provision for diminution in value (2,250) (2,250)

1,733 1,733

Market value at 31 December 1,568 1,600

15 . INVENTORIES

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Finished goods and work-in-progress 10,947 26,856 6,678 6,582
Raw, packaging and other materials 12,636 8,856 6,079 5,650
Spare parts for machinery 5,017 5,306 5,017 5,196

28,600 41,018 17,774 17,428

Of the above, spare parts for machinery in respect of the Group and of the Company are stated at net realisable
value. During the year, consumption of spare parts and machinery charged in the income statements of the Group
and of the Company amounted to RM2.2 million (2001: RM3.2 million).

16 . TRADE RECEIVABLES

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Trade debtors 130,632 112,111 - -
Provision for doubtful debts

- specific (4,836) (4,974) - -
- general - (5,600) - -

(4,836) (10,574) - -

125,796 101,537 - -

The Group’s normal trade credit terms range from 45 to 60 days. Other credit terms are assessed and approved on
a case-by-case basis.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposure to a single debtor or to
group of debtors.
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17. OTHER RECEIVABLES

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Due from subsidiary company - -  23,395 -
Due from related companies  703 - - -
Other debtors and prepayments 17,575 17,570 9,808 11,505

18,278 17,570 33,203 11,505

Included in other debtors and prepayments of the Company and of the Group is an amount of RM238,000 (2001:
RM253,000) in respect of a housing loan granted to an Alternate Director of the Company, in accordance with the
Housing Loan Scheme applicable to executive staff.

The amount due from subsidiary company is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. The
amount arose out of inter-company sales, dividends, fund transfers, and other normal inter-company transactions
in the normal course of business.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment; they
are trade in nature.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposure to a single debtor or to
group of debtors.

18 . BANK BALANCES AND DEPOSITS

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Deposits with licensed banks
and other financial institutions 254,789 269,134 252,556 266,563

Cash and bank balances 12,159 19,537  390 3 8 4

266,948 288,671 252,946 266,947

The weighted average interest rates during the financial year and the average maturities of deposits as at
31 December 2002 were as follows:

Weighted Average Average

Interest Rates  Maturities

% Days

Licensed banks 2 .82 3 2
Other financial institutions 2 .36 2 1

Other financial institutions refer to offshore bank.
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19. TRADE PAYABLES

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 30 to 90 days.

The comparative includes RM16,040,000 reclassified from items included previously as Other Payables (see
Note 20).

20 . OTHER PAYABLES

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Due to holding company 11,191 - 11,191 -
Due to a significant shareholder

corporation - 4,333 - 4,186
Due to subsidiary company - - - 35,657
Due to related companies 5,569 - 3,805 -
Due to related companies of a

significant shareholder corporation - 2,254 - 1,140
Other creditors and accruals 39,458 33,578 13,033 8,965

56,218 40,165 28,029 49,948

The amount due to subsidiary company is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. The
amount arose out of inter-company sales, dividends, fund transfers, and other normal inter-company transactions
in the normal course of business.

The amounts due to holding company, significant shareholder corporation and related companies are unsecured,
interest-free, have no fixed terms of repayment; they are trade in nature.

The comparative is stated after reclassification to Trade Payables of RM16,040,000 in respect of production-
related liabilities.

Other creditors and accruals for the Group mainly comprise accruals for trade offer incentives of approximately
RM11,813,000 (2001: RM9,834,000) and other accrued expenses of RM27,645,000 (2001: RM23,744,000).

21 . SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary

shares of RM1 each Amount

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

' 0 0 0 ' 0 0 0 RM '000 RM '000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of RM1 each
At 31 December 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of RM1 each
At 1 January 153,010 153,000 153,010 153,000
Exercise of share options 6 7 4 1 0 6 7 4 1 0

At 31 December 153,684 153,010 153,684 153,010
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21 . SHARE CAPITAL (contd.)

As at 31 December 2002, the number of outstanding shares in issue and fully paid is 152,519,000 ordinary
shares of RM1.00 each.

Pursuant to the Employees' Share Option Scheme, options to subscribe for 1,265,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00
each had been granted to eligible employees of the Group.

As of 31 December 2002, 684,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each had been issued at RM8.09 per share for
cash, upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the Scheme.

Subsequent to 31 December 2002 and as of 14 March 2003, a further 31,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each had
been issued at RM8.09 per share for cash, upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the Scheme.

Details regarding Treasury Shares held are set out in Note 23.

22 . RESERVES

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Retained earnings
- Distributable 367,013 368,766 247,561 203,809
- Non-distributable 12,043 12,043 12,043 12,043

Total retained earnings 379,056 380,809 259,604 215,852

Share premium 4,850 7 1 4,850 7 1

Other reserves:

General reserve 5,766 5,766 5,766 5,766

Capital reserve 10,524 10,524 6,593 6,593

Exchange reserve (2,056) (1,240) - -

Total reserves 398,140 395,930 276,813 228,282

Total Distributable Reserves 372,779 374,532 253,327 209,575
Total Non-distributable Reserves 25,361 21,398 23,486 18,707

TOTAL RESERVES 398,140 395,930 276,813 228,282

The non-distributable retained earnings have been allocated based on the cost of treasury shares held.

As at 31 December 2002, the Company has tax exempt profits available for distribution of approximately
RM52,940,000 (2001: RM122,463,000), subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Board.
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22. RESERVES (contd.)

The Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act 1967 and the balance in the tax
exempt income account to frank the payment of dividends out of its entire retained profits as at 31 December
2002.

(a) General Reserve

The general reserve comprises the amount set aside to account for the maximum potential deferred tax liabilities
that may arise over and above the amount that has been provided for in the financial statements based on the
accounting policies. There were no movements during the year.

(b) Capital Reserve

This reserve comprises primarily revaluation reserve on long term leasehold land held by the Company and
capitalisation of a subsidiary company's revenue reserves upon its bonus issue of shares previously. There
were no movements during the year.

(c) Exchange Reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the equity-accounting of a
foreign associate.

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Exchange Reserve

Balance at 1 January  (1,240)  908 - -
Foreign exchange differences  (816)  (2,148) - -

Balance at 31 December (2,056)  (1,240) - -

23 . TREASURY SHARES

GROUP/COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000

Balance at 1 January 12,043 12,043
Acquisition of treasury shares - -
Treasury shares sold/distributed - -

Balance at 31 December  12,043  12,043

The shareholders of the Company, by an ordinary resolution passed in a general meeting held on 29 April 1999,
approved the Company's plan to repurchase its own shares.
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23. TREASURY SHARES (contd.)

In the financial year ended 31 December 1999, the Company repurchased 1,165,000 of its issued shares from
the open market. The aggregate consideration paid for the repurchased shares was RM12,042,622, representing
an average price of RM10.34 per share. The lowest and the highest prices paid for each share were RM9.75 and
RM10.60 respectively. The repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The shares
repurchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 67A of the Companies
Act, 1965. No further shares were repurchased during the financial year ended 31 December 2002, and none of
the previously repurchased shares were reissued or distributed as share dividends.

24 . DEFERRED TAXATION

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Balance at 1 January 14,034 12,834 14,034 12,834
Transfer from income statement 3 5 0 1,200 3 5 0 1,200

Balance at 31 December 14,384 14,034 14,384 14,034

These amounts represent primarily the tax effects of timing differences on property, plant and equipment.

The Group's maximum potential liability to deferred taxation as at 31 December 2002 is estimated to be
RM20,150,000 (2001: RM19,800,000), of which RM5,766,000 (2001: RM5,766,000) has been set aside
in General Reserve after taking account of the above provision for deferred taxation.

Deferred taxation not provided for in the financial statements of the Group and Company arising from revaluation
of property, plant and equipment which are held for long term use amounts to RM1,283,000 (2001:
RM1,310,000). The comparative of RM1,310,000 has been restated from the amount disclosed in the previous
year, of RM1,846,000, upon factoring the extent to which such assets had been amortised.

25 . CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Commitments in respect of
expenditure contracted for:- 4,969 14,416 4,633 13,852

Approved by the directors but
not contracted for:- 15,999 29,136 11,381 21,228
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26. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

In respect of premises:

Not later than 1 year 2 9 4 2 3 0 - 3 5
Within 1 to 5 years 2 4 7 1 9 0 - -

5 4 1 4 2 0 - 3 5

27 . SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Transactions with:

Holding Company

Carlsberg Asia Pte. Ltd.
Royalties payable 12,548 - 5,500 -
Sponsorship contribution payable 3,561 - - -

Significant shareholder corporation

of the holding company

Carlsberg Breweries A/S Purchases 3 4 7 - 3 2 7 -

Significant shareholder corporation

Carlsberg Breweries A/S
Sales - 34,945 - -
Purchases - 9 2 6 - 9 2 6
Royalties payable -  15,655 -  8,757

Related companies

Sales to:
Carlsberg Singapore Pte. Ltd. 4,271 - - -

Purchases from:
Carlsberg Brewery (Guangdong) Ltd. 7,657 - - -

Technical consultancy fee payable to:
Danbrew Ltd. A/S  606 -  606 -
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27. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contd.)

GROUP COMPANY

2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Related companies of a significant

shareholder corporation

Sales to:
Carlsberg Singapore Pte. Ltd. - 7 3 7 - -

Purchases from:
Carlsberg Brewery (Guangdong) Ltd. - 1,939 - -

Technical consultancy fee payable to:
Danbrew Ltd. A/S - 1,649 - 1,649

Sponsorship contribution payable to:
Carlsberg Asia Pte. Ltd. - 1,140 - -

Related parties (common directors)*
Purchases from:

UMW Toyota Motor Sdn. Bhd. 5 7 0 1,000 4 0 3 5 0 2
Kian Joo Packaging Sdn. Bhd 20,288 21,504 20,288 21,504

* With direct or indirect interest in either
one or both companies

Subsidiary company

Carlsberg Marketing Sdn Bhd
Sales - - 617,659 619,156
Transfer of property, plant and

equipment at net book value - - 7 6 -
Management fee received - - 3,600 2,400
Rental income - - 7 8 0 1 8 0
Dividend income - - 108,900 99,000

The directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of
business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those obtainable
in transactions with unrelated parties.

28 . SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group operates principally in the brewing industry in Malaysia, in the production and sale of beer, stout,
shandy and non-alcoholic beverages. The other segments are not significant. Accordingly, information analysing
geographical and industry segments is not presented.
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29. CONTINGENCIES: MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company is involved in the following pending litigation matters:

(a) On 30 April 1999, a Statement of Claim was filed in court by Asia Pacific Breweries Limited/Guinness Anchor
Berhad against the Company over an advertisement that appeared in certain newspapers. The Company had
filed its Statement of Defence and the case is still pending trial.

The solicitors have advised that the Company’s prospects of successfully defending the suit are good and any
damages arising would occur only in the event of a finding against the Company on liability. The solicitors
have advised that they are unable to make an estimate for any damages arising as the outcome of the case and
damages arising, if any, are within the discretion of the Court.

(b) On 12 October 1999, the Company filed a Statement of Claim against Guinness Anchor Berhad in
respect of their advertisements in the newspapers and other media associating Heineken with the
World Cup Golf tournament which was held in Malaysia on 18 to 21 November 1999.  The Company had
obtained an inter-parte injunction against Guinness Anchor Berhad restraining such advertisements for
the duration of the tournament. The case is still pending.

The solicitors have advised that the Company is well positioned to prove liability, damages and other remedies
against the defendant at trial. However, the potential financial outcome arising from the suit is not possible to
estimate at this time.

30 . FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for
the development of the Group’s business whilst managing its foreign exchange and credit risks. The Group
operates within clearly defined guidelines that are approved by the Board and the Group’s policy is not to engage
in speculative transactions.

(a) Foreign Exchange Risks

The objectives of the Group’s foreign exchange policies are directed at enabling the Group to manage exposures
that arise from transactional activities within a framework of controls that does not expose the Group to
unnecessary foreign exchange risks. The Group covers substantially all foreign exchange exposures arising
from its foreign currency payables and on cash flows to be applied in anticipated transactions denominated in
foreign currencies, through foreign currency deposits.

(b) Credit Risks

Credit risks, or the risk of counter parties defaulting, are controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits
and monitoring procedures. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis through Group management
reporting procedures. All deposits are placed with licensed financial institutions, which are assessed for acceptable
creditworthiness.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter party nor does it
have any major concentration of credit risk related to any financial instrument.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contd.)

(c) Fair Values

The aggregate value of financial assets and financial liabilities which are not carried at fair value on the
balance sheets of the Group and of the Company are represented as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

Note RM '000 RM '000 RM '000 RM '000

Financial Assets

Associated company 1 3 13,570 32,976 10,940 32,976

Marketable securities 1 4 1,733 1,568 1,733 1,568

Due from subsidiary company 1 7 - - 23,395 *

Due from related companies 1 7 7 0 3 * - -

Financial Libilities

Due to holding company 11,191 * 11,191 *

Due to related companies 5,569 * 3,805 *

* No disclosure of fair value is made for amounts due from/to subsidiary and related companies as it is not
practicable to determine their fair values with sufficient reliability since these balances have no fixed terms
of payment. However, the Group does not anticipate the carrying amounts recorded at the balance sheet
date to be significantly different from the values that would eventually be received or settled.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments,
where applicable, for which it is practical to estimate that value:

(i) Bank Balances and Deposits and Trade and Other Receivables/ Payables

The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial
instruments.

(ii) Marketable Securities

The fair value of quoted shares is determined by reference to stock exchange quoted market prices at the close
of business on the balance sheet date.



Particulars of Group Properties

The Properties included in land and buildings at 31 December 2002 (note 11 to the Accounts) and their net book
values are indicated below:-

Date of Approx.Age Net

acquisition or Land of Buildings Book Value

Address Description Area revaluation Tenure (Years) RM’000

55, Persiaran Selangor, Brewery and 20.00 31/3/81 Leasehold 32 35,337
Section 15, 40200 Shah Alam, Offices acres (revaluation) expiring
Selangor Darul Ehsan 23.2.2070

25, Jalan Kilang Dua, Office and 0.33 4/10/90 Leasehold 25 377
Kawasan MIEL, Jelapang, Warehouse acre (acquisition) expiring
30100 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan 15.9.2072

10, Pinggiran Tunku, Residential 0.64 1/4/91 Freehold 31 1,955
Bukit Tunku, – Bungalow acre (acquisition)
50480 Kuala Lumpur,
Wilayah Persekutuan

83, Jalan Seroja 39, Office and 0.34 20/5/91 Freehold 10 747
Taman Johor Jaya, Warehouse acre (acquisition)
81100 Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim

Plot 42, off Lot 2817, Office and 0.75 15/3/92 Leasehold 10 1,672
Jalan Jelawat, Warehouse acre (acquisition) expiring
Bandar Seberang Jaya, 18.8.2073
13700 Prai, Butterworth

Lot 6, No.34, Office and 0.06 28/3/95 Leasehold 23 390
Towering Industrial Estate,  Warehouse acre (acquisition) expiring
Mile 41/2, Jalan Penampang, 31.12.2037
88300 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah

394, Taman AST, Office and 0.04 23/12/96 Freehold 8 377
Jalan Labu, 70200 Seremban, Warehouse acre (acquisition)
Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus

Lot 22, Jalan Pengapit 15/19, Factory and 1.81 12/3/96 Leasehold 12 9,735
40200 Shah Alam, Office acres (acquisition) expiring
Selangor Darul Ehsan 23.2.2082

25, Jalan IM 14/3, Office and 0.05 17/12/97 Leasehold 5 224
Kawasan Perindustrian Warehouse acre (acquisition) expiring
Ringan Indera Mahkota,  29.3.2097
25200 Kuantan,
Pahang Darul Makmur

No. EMR 3099, Lot No.9 & Land 6.41 24/7/98 Freehold - 15,954
No. EMR 3100, Lot No.10, acres (acquisition)
No. GM 76, Lot No.35 &
No. GM 77, Lot No.36,
In The Village of Batu Tiga /
Mukim of Damansara,
District of Petaling,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

66,768
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Carlsberg Sales Offices and Depots in Malaysia

PENANG

No.27, Jalan Gottlieb,
10350 Penang.
Tel: 04-226 9430/04-226 9436
Fax: 04-226 9471

BUTTERWORTH

Plot 42, off Lot 2817,
Jalan Jelawat,
Bandar Seberang Jaya,
13700 Prai, Butterworth.
Tel: 04-390 3077
Fax: 04-399 1488

IPOH

25, Jalan Kilang Dua
Kawasan MIEL, Jelapang,
30100 Ipoh,
Perak Darul Ridzuan.
Tel: 05-526 4622/526 2385
Fax: 05-526 4090

CENTRAL

Lot 22,  Jalan Pengapit 15/19
Section 15, 40200 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan.
Tel: 03-5522 6688
Fax: 03-5510 1135

SEREMBAN

394, Taman AST,
Jalan Labu, 70200 Seremban,
Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus.
Tel: 06-762 0319/762 9102
Fax: 06-764 3895

MELAKA

23-23A, Jalan Malinja 1,
Taman Malinja, Bukit Baru,
75150 Melaka.
Tel: 06-282 7709/284 1530
Fax: 06-282 7930

BATU PAHAT

24, Jalan Tukas Satu,
Taman Soga,
83000 Batu Pahat,
Johor Darul Takzim.
Tel: 07-433 2463
Fax: 07-433 2464

JOHOR BAHRU

83, Jalan Seroja 39,
Taman Johor Jaya,
81100 Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim.
Tel: 07-355 5078
Fax: 07-354 6092

KOTA BAHRU

5591-F, Jalan Sultan Yahya Putra,
Wakaf Siku, 15200 Kota Bahru,
Kelantan Darul Naim.
Tel: 09-744 0624
Fax: 09-744 0624

MENTAKAB

2, Jalan Keruing,
Taman Rimba,
28400 Mentakab,
Pahang Darul Makmur.
Tel: 09-277 3976

KUANTAN

25, Jalan IM14/3,
Kawasan Perindustrian Ringan
Indera Mahkota,
25200 Kuantan,
Pahang Darul Makmur.
Tel: 09-508 8348/508 8349
Fax: 09-508 8343

KOTA KINABALU

Lot 6, No.34,
Towering Industrial Estate,
Mile 4 1/2, Jalan Penampang,
88300 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Tel: 088-715 091/715 019
Fax: 088-717 480

TAWAU

TB 7542, Lot 2, Da Hua Garden,
Phase 3, Jalan Bunga Raya,
91000 Tawau, Sabah.
Tel: 089-714 986
Fax: 089-714 686

SANDAKAN

Lot 9, Block A, Bandar Nam Tung
90007 Sandakan,
Sabah.
Tel: 089-611 748

KUCHING

287, Section 9, KTLD,
Ground & 1st Floor Rubber Road,
93762 Kuching, Sarawak.
Tel: 082-425 319/425 320
Fax: 082-421 660

Penang
Butterworth

Melaka

Ipoh

Batu Pahat

Johor Bahru

Kuantan

Kota Kinabalu

Tawau

Sandakan

Kuching

Mentakab

Kota Bahru

Seremban

Central
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No. of % of No. of % of

Size of Holdings Shareholders  Shareholders Shares Shares

1 - 999 680 14.84 146,945 0.10

1,000 - 10,000 3,041 66.37 8,692,718 5.70
10,001 - 100,000 752 16.41 21,514,644 14.10

100,001 - 7,627,299* 107 2.34 37,417,193 24.53
7,627,300 and above** 2 0.04 84,774,500 55.57

Total 4,582 100.00 152,546,000 100.00

Class of Share : RM1.00 Ordinary Share

Voting Rights : 1 Vote Per Ordinary Share
* Less than 5% of issued shares

** 5% and above of issued shares

Analysis of Shareholdings
as at 28 February 2003

Thirty Largest Shareholders

Name Number of Shares % of Shares

1. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 75,917,500 49.77

Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd
2. Silvercord Capital (Singapore) Limited 8,857,000 5.81

3. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 4,542,660 2.98
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia ) Berhad (PAR 1)

4. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 2,191,000 1.44
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (PAR 2)

5. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 2,000,000 1.31
Deutsche Bank AG (GCS) London For BP Pension Trustees Limited

6. Citicorp Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 1,500,000 0.98
CB LDN for First State Asia Pacific Fund

7. UOBM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,100,000 0.72
Pledged Securities Account For Wong Yoke Fong @ Wong Nyok Fing

8. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 1,071,340 0.70
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia ) Berhad (NON PAR 1)

9. Mak Tian Meng 1,071,040 0.70
10. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 942,000 0.62

General Motors Employees Global Group Pension Trust
11. Citicorp Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 913,500 0.60

American International Assurance Company Limited (P CORE)
12. Mayban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 774,750 0.51

DBS Bank For Mrs Theresa Foo Nee Cheng
13. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 759,000 0.50

Boston Safe Deposit and Trust Company For Commonwealth
Of Massachusetts Pension Reserve Investment Trust
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Thirty Largest Shareholders (contd.)

Name Number of Shares % of Shares

14. Tai Tak Estates Sdn Bhd 750,000 0.49
15. Asia Life (M) Berhad As Beneficial Owner (M’sia Life Fund) 747,500 0.49

16. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 727,000 0.48
Boston Safe Deposit and Trust Company for Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania Public School Employees Retirement System
17. Citicorp Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 661,500 0.43

Prudential Assurance Malaysia Berhad (PAR Fund)
18. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 499,000 0.33

Boston Safe Deposit and Trust Company for SBC Pension Benefit Plan
19. HDM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 483,750 0.32

UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd for Kwong Soon Engineering Co Pte Ltd
20. Universal Trustee (Malaysia) Berhad Mayban Balanced Trust Fund 461,000 0.30

21. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 455,000 0.30
Chung Khiaw Bank Nominees (Pte) Ltd for Ko Choon Huat

22. Ho Sim Guan 450,000 0.29
23. John Hancock Life Insurance (Malaysia) Berhad 396,000 0.26

24. AMSEC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 387,000 0.25
Fraser Securities Pte Ltd for The Asia Life Assurance Society Ltd

25. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 379,000 0.25
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (SHF)

26. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 376,000 0.25
State Street London Fund XCB9 for Aberdeen Asian

Smaller Companies Investment Trust PLC
27. Universal Trustee (Malaysia) Berhad Pacific Premier Fund 352,000 0.23

28. AM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 343,000 0.22
Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial

29. HLG Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 329,000 0.22
HLG Asset Management Sdn Bhd for Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial

30. Allianz General Insurance Malaysia Berhad 304,000 0.20

Total 109,740,540 71.95

Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest

Name Number of Shares % of Shares

1. Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd 75,917,500 49.77
2. Silvercord Capital (Singapore) Limited 8,857,000 5.81

Total 84,774,500 55.58

No. of Shares
Purchased (Units)

Purchase Price Per Share (RM)
Lowest Highest

Average Cost
Per Share (RM)

Total Cost (RM)

August 99 577,000 9.75 10.30 10.09 5,822,317.83
September 99 588,000 10.30 10.60 10.58 6,220,304.57

Total 1,165,000 9.75 10.60 10.34 12,042,622.40

No further shares were repurchased during the year ended 31 December 2002. None of the repurchased shares
were reissued, cancelled or distributed as share dividends during the period under review.

Share  Buy-Back
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The particulars of material contracts of the Group with its major shareholder, Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd (“CAPL”)
and some of its related parties, subsisting as at 31 December 2002 or entered into since the end of the previous

financial year, are as follows :-

1. A call option agreement between Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad (“CBMB”) and Carlsberg A/S
(“CAS”) on 18 November 1996, allowing CAS to acquire CBMB’s interest in The Lion Brewery Ceylon

Limited, should certain events occur. The purchase consideration is to be based on an agreed formula
and in any event, to be a minimum of the original purchase price paid by CBMB. CAS is related to a

major shareholder of CAPL.

2. An agreement between CBMB and CAPL to be dated 1 January 2002 for, inter-alia, the exclusive use
of trade names and the supply of technical and commercial assistance by CAPL. The royalties payable

by CBMB is based on an agreed formula.

3. An agreement between Carlsberg Marketing Sdn Bhd (“CMSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBMB,
and CAPL to be dated 1 January 2002 for the appointment of CMSB as sole and exclusive distributor

of products manufactured in CBMB’s brewery. The royalties payable by CMSB is based on an agreed
formula.

4. An agreement between Chang International Limited (“CIL”) and CBMB on 22 July 2002 for, inter-alia,

the exclusive use of trade names and the supply of technical and commercial assistance by CIL. The
royalties payable by CBMB is based on an agreed formula and payment is to commence from 1

January 2005. CIL is related to a major shareholder of CAPL.

There are no material contracts of the Group with the Directors of CBMB subsisting as at 31 December 2002 or
entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Material Contracts



NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty-Third Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Sheraton
Subang Hotel & Towers, Jalan SS12/1, 47500 Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, on Monday, 28 April 2003 at

11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

Notice of Annual General Meeting

AGENDA

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2002
together with the Directors' and Auditors' reports thereon.

2. To sanction the declaration of a Final Dividend of 15 sen per share less Malaysian
income tax and a Special Tax Exempt Dividend of 50 sen per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2002.

3 To re-elect Yang Berbahagia Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft who retires pursuant to Article
92(a) of the Company's Articles of Association.

4. To re-elect Mr Mogens Thomsen who retires pursuant to Article 92(a) of the Company's
Articles of Association.

5. To re-elect Mr Paul Assar Bergqvist who retires pursuant to Article 92(e) of the
Company's Articles of Association.

6. To re-elect Mr Bjorn Sondenskov who retires pursuant to Article 92(e) of the Company's
Articles of Association.

7. To re-elect Mr Chin Voon Loong who retires pursuant to Article 92(e) of the Company's
Articles of Association.

8. To consider and if thought fit, pass the following resolution in accordance with Section
129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965:

"THAT Mr Chan Hua Eng who is over the age of seventy years and retiring in accordance
with Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed a Director
of the Company to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company."

9. To consider and if thought fit, pass the following resolution in accordance with Section
129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965:

"THAT Yang Berbahagia Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd. Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd Seth who
is over the age of seventy years and retiring in accordance with Section 129 of the
Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed a Director of the Company to hold
office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company."

10. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration.
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Ordinary

Resolution 11

Ordinary

Resolution 12

Special Business

To transact any other ordinary business for which notice has been given.

11. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES

ACT, 1965

"THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 1965, the Articles of Association of the
Company and the approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities, the

Directors be and are hereby empowered, pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies
Act, 1965, to issue shares in the Company from time to time and upon such terms and

conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may deem fit provided that the
aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this Resolution in any one financial

year does not exceed 10% of the issued capital of the Company for the time being;

AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the
listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued on the Kuala Lumpur Stock

Exchange and THAT such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company."

12. PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHARE BUY-BACK AUTHORITY

"THAT subject to compliance with Section 67A of the Companies Act 1965, the

Requirements of the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange and any prevailing laws, rules,
regulations, orders, guidelines and requirements issued by any relevant authority,

approval be and is hereby given to the Company to utilise not more than RM252.41
million being the combined total of the audited distributable retained earnings and

share premium reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2002 which stood at
RM247.56 million and RM4.85 million respectively, to purchase on the Kuala Lumpur

Stock Exchange ("KLSE") up to 14,243,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each of the
Company ("shares") which together with the 1,165,000 shares already purchased earlier

and retained as treasury shares, represents 10% of the enlarged issued and paid-up
share capital of 154,080,000 shares assuming that all the remaining options under the

Company's Employees Share Option Scheme is exercised AND THAT upon completion
of the purchase by the Company of its own shares, the Directors of the Company be and

are hereby authorised to:-

a) cancel ALL or PART of the shares so purchased and/or to retain ALL or PART of the
shares in treasury ("the treasury shares");

b) distribute the treasury shares as dividends to the Company's shareholders for the

time being and/or to resell the treasury shares on the KLSE; AND/OR

 c) cancel the shares so purchased or cancel the treasury shares and transfer the

amount by which the Company's issued capital is diminished to the capital
redemption reserve and subsequently apply the capital redemption reserve to

pay up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to the Company's shareholders
as fully paid bonus shares,



Ordinary

Resolution 13
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whereby an announcement regarding the intention of the Directors of the Company in
relation to the proposed treatment of the shares purchased and rationale thereof has

been made to the KLSE AND THAT such authority from the shareholders would be
effective immediately upon passing of this Ordinary Resolution and the aforesaid

authority from Shareholders will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting (“AGM”) unless the authority is renewed by ordinary resolution passed at the

said AGM (either unconditionally or subject to condition), or upon the expiration of the
period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held or if earlier revoked or

varied by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting
whichever occurs first, but not so as to prejudice the completion of purchase(s) by the

Company before the aforesaid expiry date and, in any event, in accordance with the
provisions of the guidelines issued by the KLSE or any other relevant authority AND

THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to take all such
steps as are necessary including the opening and maintaining of a central depositories

account(s) under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, and entering
into all other agreements, arrangements and guarantees with any party or parties to

implement, finalise and give full effect to the aforesaid purchase with full powers to
assent to any conditions, modifications, revaluations, variations and/or amendments (if

any) as may be imposed by the relevant authorities from time to time and to do all such
acts and things as the said Directors may deem fit and expedient in the best interest of

the Company."

13. PROPOSED SHAREHOLDERS' MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE ("PROPOSED SHAREHOLDERS'

MANDATE")

"THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries to enter
into and give effect to specified recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature

and with specified classes of the related parties as stated in Clause 3.3 of the Circular to
Shareholders dated 4 April 2003 which are necessary for the Group's day to day

operations subject to the following:-

i) the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms not more
favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public where

applicable and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders;

ii) disclosure is made in the annual report of the aggregate value of transactions
conducted pursuant to the shareholders' mandate during the financial year and

such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(a) the conclusion of the first Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of the Company
following the forthcoming AGM at which such Proposed Shareholders' Mandate

was passed, at which time it will lapse, unless by resolution passed at an AGM
whereby the authority is renewed;
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(b) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company
subsequent to the date it is required to be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the

Malaysian Companies Act, 1965 ("the Act") (but shall not extend to such
extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

(c) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in a general meeting,

whichever is earlier; and

iii) the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do

all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) to
give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this Ordinary

Resolution.

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND PAYMENT AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Thirty-Third
Annual General Meeting to be held on Monday, 28 April 2003, the Final Dividend of 15 sen

per share less Malaysian income tax and a Special Tax Exempt Dividend of 50 sen per share
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2002 will be payable on 23 May 2003 to members

appearing in the Register of Members and Record of Depositors at the close of business on
16 May 2003.

A depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the dividends only in respect of:

(a) Shares deposited into the depositor's securities account before 12.30 p.m. on 12 May

2003 (in respect of shares which are exempted from mandatory deposit).

(b) Shares transferred into the depositor's securities account before 4.00 p.m.
on 16 May 2003.

(c) Shares bought on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange on a cum entitlement basis according

to the Rules of the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board

CHIN VOON LOONG

Shah Alam

4 April 2003
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Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint another person as

his proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its Seal or under

the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

3. The Proxy Form must be deposited at the Registered Office at No. 55 Persiaran Selangor,

Section 15, 40200 Shah Alam, Selangor, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the

meeting.

4. For purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall

be requesting the Malaysian Central Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company

pursuant to Article 50 (9b) of the Articles of Association of the Company and Section 7.18 (2)

of the KLSE Listing Requirements, a Record of Depositors as at 22 April 2003 and a Depositor

whose name appear on such Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend this meeting.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

Ordinary Resolution 11 - Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the

Companies Act, 1965

This resolution is proposed pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, and if

passed, will give the Directors of the Company, from the date of the above Annual General
Meeting, authority to issue and allot shares from the unissued share capital of the Company

for such purposes as the Directors deem fit and in the interest of the Company. This authority,
unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next

Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 12 - Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority

The detailed text on Resolution 12 on the Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority is

included in the Circular to Shareholders dated 4 April 2003 which is enclosed together with
the Annual Report.

Ordinary Resolution 13 - Proposed Shareholders' Mandate for Recurrent Related Party

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

The detailed text on Resolution 13 on the Proposed Shareholders' Mandate for Recurrent

Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature is included in the Circular to
Shareholders dated 4 April 2003 which is enclosed together with the Annual Report.
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Pursuant to Paragraph 8.28(2) of the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange Listing Requirement appended hereunder

are:

Please refer to “Directors’ Profile” on pages 5 to 7 of this Annual Report for details of Directors who are standing
for re-election or re-appointment.

A total of six Board meetings were held in the year ended 31 December 2002:

Statement Accompanying Notice of Annual General Meeting

Date Time Place

20 February 2002 2.00 p.m. Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad, Shah Alam
13 March 2002 2.00 p.m. Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad, Shah Alam
28 May 2002 10.00 a.m. Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad, Shah Alam
17 June 2002 1.00 p.m. Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad, Shah Alam
22 August 2002 3.00 p.m. Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Berhad, Shah Alam
18 November 2002 10.00 a.m. Bangkok

Directors No. of meetings attended

Michael Iuul (resigned on 18.11.02) 5/6
Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft 6/6
Chan Hua Eng 6/6
Jen (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd Seth 6/6
Y.A.M. Tunku Naquiyuddin ibni Tuanku Ja'afar 4/6
Tan Sri Datuk Asmat bin Kamaludin 5/6
Mogens Thomsen 6/6
Paul Assar Bergqvist (appointed on 18.11.02) -
Bjorn Sondenskov (appointed on 1.4.03) -
Chin Voon Loong (appointed on 1.4.03) -
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Details of Directors attendance at the Board Meetings held in the year ended 31 December 2002 are as follows:



(Company No. 9210-K)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Notes:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

3. The Proxy Form must be deposited at the Registered Office at No. 55 Persiaran Selangor, Section 15, 40200 Shah Alam, Selangor, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the meeting.

4. For purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting the Malaysian Central Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company pursuant
to Article 50 (9b) of the Articles of Association of the Company and Section 7.18 (2) of the KLSE Listing Requirements, a Record of Depositors as at 22 April 2003 and a Depositor whose name appear
on such Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend this meeting.

Proxy Form

No.of Shares Held

I/We,

of

being a member of the abovenamed Company, hereby appoint

of

or failing him

of

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Thirty-Third Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 28 April 2003 at 11.00 a.m., and at any adjournment thereof. The proxy is to vote on the business before the meeting
as indicated below (if no indication is given, the proxy will vote as he thinks fit or abstain from voting):

Ordinary Resolution 1

Ordinary Resolution 2

Ordinary Resolution 3

Ordinary Resolution 4

Ordinary Resolution 5

Ordinary Resolution 6

Ordinary Resolution 7

Ordinary Resolution 8

Ordinary Resolution 9

Ordinary Resolution 10

Ordinary Resolution 11

Ordinary Resolution 12

Ordinary Resolution 13

AGAINSTFOR

Adoption of the Directors' and Auditors' Reports and Audited
Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2002.

Declaration of Final Dividend and Special Tax Exempt Dividend.

Re-election of Yang Berbahagia Dato' Jorgen Bornhoft as Director.

Re-election of Mr Mogens Thomsen as Director.

Re-election of Mr Paul Assar Bergqvist as Director.

Re-election of Mr Bjorn Sondenskov as Director.

Re-election of Mr Chin Voon Loong as Director.

Re-appointment of Mr Chan Hua Eng as Director.

Re-appointment of Yang Berbahagia Jen. (B) Tan Sri Dato' Mohd.
Ghazali bin Dato' Mohd. Seth as Director.

Re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors and to authorise
the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Authority for Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D
of the Companies Act, 1965.

Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority.

Proposed Shareholders' Mandate for recurrent related party
transactions of a revenue or trading nature

As witness my/our hand the day of 2003.

Signed by the said

In the presence of
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THE COMPANY SECRETARY

CARLSBERG BREWERY MALAYSIA BERHAD

No. 55, Persiaran Selangor
Section 15
40200 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

first fold

second fold
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